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          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: I call the meeting

          3  to order.

          4                 My name is Christine Quinn. I'm the

          5  Chairperson of the New York City Council's Health

          6  Committee. We've been joined so far by the Minority

          7  Leader of the City Council, Council Member James

          8  Oddo, who is a member of the Health Committee. It's

          9  a whole Staten Island trio here. Council Member Mike

         10  McMahon, Council Member Andrew Lanza, all from

         11  Staten Island. Also by Council Member Domenic

         12  Recchia, thank goodness another borough is here.

         13  Domenic is from Queens.

         14                 I want to thank everyone for coming

         15  today. We'll be joined by other members of the

         16  Committee shortly. As you saw who entered the room,

         17  there are other hearings going on as well,

         18  Environmental Protection is next door.

         19                 Today's hearing is on two matters.

         20  One, it is on the apparent cuts which have occurred

         21  to the school health budget and particularly to the

         22  funds which go to nurses who are allocated to

         23  non-public schools.

         24                 It is also on a piece of legislation

         25  which seeks to mandate that the City provide nurses
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          2  in all K through 8 non-public schools, which has

          3  been introduced by Council Member McMahon.

          4                 I wanted to just say kind of as an

          5  opening, and kind of before Commissioner Frieden of

          6  the Department of Health testifies, we'll also hear

          7  an opening statement from Council Member McMahon,

          8  who, as I said is the lead sponsor of the piece of

          9  legislation, and also really been the main driving

         10  force in the City Council of trying to get the issue

         11  of this cut front and center and focused on by the

         12  Council and by the City as a whole, and I want to

         13  thank him for his leadership on that matter in very

         14  much bringing this to the attention of the

         15  Committee.

         16                 When the City Council passed the

         17  budget last year, we believed that there was $60

         18  million in the school health budget within the

         19  Department of Health's budget. That money goes for

         20  many things, including the issue we are here to

         21  discuss today.

         22                 There was in the budget proposed by

         23  Mayor Bloomberg a $6.2 million cut to the programs

         24  for school nurses. In both the Executive Budget

         25  hearing and the Preliminary Budget hearings there
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          2  were questions and dialogues between myself, Council

          3  Members, Commissioner Frieden and Assistant

          4  Commissioners from the Department about that cut, in

          5  numerous different ways, but particularly how would

          6  that cut impact the program that's before us today,

          7  the non-public school nursing program.

          8                 If one was to refer back to the

          9  testimony that was presented by Commissioner Frieden

         10  at the hearing on the Mayor's Preliminary Budget,

         11  and the transcript from both the hearing on the

         12  Preliminary and the Executive Budget, I think it is

         13  clear that a commitment was made that there would be

         14  no cut to this program.

         15                 In fact, when the Office of

         16  Management of Budget presented the City Council with

         17  listings of what cuts there were to the Department

         18  of Health, we were never given any information that

         19  indicated that as a result of the budget adopted in

         20  June, that there would be cuts to the funding

         21  specifically for non-public school nurses.

         22                 So, the letter which was sent out

         23  from the Department of Health to the non-public

         24  schools which indicates that this is, quote, as a

         25  result of this change, which was presented in the
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          2  budget adoption process last spring, the Department

          3  is no longer able to provide a daily nursing

          4  presence in all non-public elementary schools that

          5  request it.

          6                 I take exception to that

          7  characterization. I don't believe that this was ever

          8  presented to the City Council by the Department or

          9  by the Office of Management and Budget. So, in my

         10  opinion as Chair, there are two issues before us

         11  today.

         12                 One, the substance of what has

         13  happened; is it a smart and appropriate public

         14  health cut in these very, very tough fiscal times?

         15                 Also, before us today as a Committee,

         16  in my opinion, is the fact that we were not notified

         17  of this cut during the negotiation process. And I

         18  think that is an issue which is important, as it

         19  relates to the issue you are all here about, but is

         20  actually fundamental to our ability to work together

         21  at any juncture, but particularly as we enter a $6

         22  billion budget deficit.

         23                 I'm sure the Commissioner and I may

         24  go back and forth about whether it was or wasn't

         25  presented but I feel very strongly having reviewed
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          2  again the transcript and the hearings this morning,

          3  and consulted with our Finance staff who assured me

          4  that OMB never presented this cut. We had numerous

          5  discussions about the nurses cut. We were presented

          6  with some information that the nurses' cut was one

          7  thing, then that information was changed and we were

          8  told, no, it was something else. We were never told

          9  that there would be this type of a change that if

         10  schools requested it that they wouldn't receive it,

         11  and just to start off, I want to be clear that at

         12  the hearing, on the preliminary budget hearing,

         13  Assistant Commissioner Owen Leeks in fact said,

         14  "clearly there will be days when there will not be

         15  a nurse in a school, just because we cannot get

         16  nurses via the contract, nor through the hiring

         17  process to cover. And we'll continue to work on, you

         18  know, the hiring and getting of nurses," because

         19  there is a major nurses shortage in this City, of

         20  course I'm adding that in. This is the important

         21  part of the transcript: "But the intent is not to

         22  have a school that should have a nursing presence in

         23  it not covered as a function of this cut."

         24                 So, I think there was a very clear

         25  commitment made to the Council. So I really wanted
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          2  to make that history clear as we entered into this

          3  process, for those of you particularly who are here,

          4  because perhaps there's been an impact on your

          5  school, if this question seemed to veer a more

          6  procedural way, I didn't want you to think it was

          7  out of lack of concern or interest and I wanted you

          8  to understand that background.

          9                 That said, before we hear from the

         10  Commissioner, we're going to, as I said, turn the

         11  mic over to Mike McMahon, Council Member from Staten

         12  Island.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Thank you

         14  very much, Chairwoman Quinn. And I want to start by

         15  publicly thanking you and your Committee for acting

         16  so quickly on our request that action be taken, and

         17  make it quite clear to everyone here that I stress

         18  the hour. This is an issue that we have worked on

         19  together with my colleagues Andy Lanza and Jim Oddo,

         20  and Domenic Recchia and Council Member Golden, as

         21  well as Congressman Fossella, across party lines.

         22  And it's a team effort and there's no I in team,

         23  except I think that we all would start by saying

         24  that I thank you very much, Christine, for your help

         25  on this.
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          2                 I think I just want to go over what

          3  you said a little bit and make sure everybody

          4  understands, we are not only here to fight for the

          5  nurses in our schools, but also to say that the

          6  process in which the cuts were made was less than

          7  open and obvious to all of us in the City Council,

          8  and that's why some of us always said all along that

          9  the issue of the Council approving these cuts, as

         10  was put forward by some other people, was not true.

         11                 These cuts were not presented to us

         12  in the normal fashion, and we'll go over that more

         13  in the hearing.

         14                 Let me just say a few words about the

         15  bill that we've introduced into the Council

         16  together.

         17                 Certainly it's a very difficult time

         18  for the City in terms of budget. We all know that.

         19  The headlines in today's paper make that all so

         20  clear.

         21                 But what we have to do to get through

         22  a crisis like this is to keep our priorities

         23  straight, and what our bill will hope to do is to

         24  help the Commissioner of the Department of Health

         25  and his staff keep their priorities straight.
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          2                 Indeed, in today's world the need for

          3  a nurse in every school to deal with emergencies,

          4  whether it be a first aid emergency or deal with a

          5  health issue that face our children such as

          6  allergies or asthma or diabetes or to deal with

          7  nutrition, things like sickle cell anemia and

          8  hemophilia, are all too clear. But the school nurse

          9  serves other functions as well, such as prevention

         10  and education, and they are front-line soldiers when

         11  it comes to the issue of bioterrorism, and I believe

         12  that these factors alone blow away the argument that

         13  the Commissioner may make that this was a new

         14  program that was only begun two years ago.

         15                 The fact that it was a program begun

         16  two years ago, putting nurses in every school,

         17  doesn't make it any less right, correct or the

         18  appropriate thing to do.

         19                 If the Department of Health is

         20  worried about better health for the City of New

         21  York, the place to begin is in our schools with our

         22  children and our legislation, again, helps the

         23  Department get its priorities right.

         24                 To be sure, the City has cuts to

         25  make, but if you think about what would cost more,
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          2  the cost of a nurse per year for a child, $64, or

          3  the $10,000 that it would cost the City if that

          4  child went to a public school? I ask you what's the

          5  best way to deal with the budget crisis? Again, it's

          6  by getting our priorities right, and that's what our

          7  legislation seeks to do.

          8                 And let's be clear, that my

          9  legislation is not about public versus non-public

         10  schools, this is about doing what's necessary to

         11  provide equal access to health care.

         12                 In fact, it is the Health Department,

         13  in its rhetoric, I believe, that has tried to pit

         14  one side against the other side.

         15                 Unfortunately, it is now necessary to

         16  put in this legislation that will help the

         17  Department get its priorities right.

         18                 The Commissioner has decided to

         19  measure equality, and as you all know, state and

         20  federal law require equality in access to health

         21  care, and the Department has decided to measure it

         22  by counting heads, by saying that if you have 400

         23  students in one school, and 500 students in another

         24  school, you can therefore meet the parity of one

         25  nurse for 750 children by having one nurse cover the
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          2  two schools.

          3                 We know that this is ridiculous. If

          4  the nurse is at another school, what do you tell the

          5  children in your school - don't get sick until

          6  Wednesday when our nurse is here? Don't need your

          7  insulin injection until later this afternoon. And if

          8  you have an allergy attack, we'll call 9-1-1, we

          9  hope you make it. This is unacceptable with our

         10  legislation. We are working to help the Department

         11  get its priorities straight.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Just before we

         13  begin, I want to say we've been joined by Council

         14  Member Kendall Stewart, who is a member of the

         15  Health Committee, and I think I moved you to a

         16  different borough, didn't I? I moved him to Queens

         17  but he's actually from Brooklyn.

         18                 I just wanted to say before we begin

         19  that we are joined in the Chamber by two of -- well,

         20  actually one who is a former colleague of mine, but

         21  the other is a former colleague of the City Council,

         22  by Congressmember Vito Fossello, a former City

         23  Council Member who is now a Congressmember, and the

         24  County Clerk of Staten Island, Stephen Fiala, who is

         25  also a former City Council member. We'll be hearing
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          2  from them later.

          3                 We're going to be joined later also

          4  by the Public Advocate.

          5                 I'm going to turn it over now to --

          6  oh, she's actually here. I'm sorry, I apologize. We

          7  were also joined in the Chambers by the Public

          8  Advocate, Betsy Gotbaum. She's usually up there, so

          9  I was confused.

         10                 We're now going to hear from the

         11  Commissioner, who seems to have himself survived the

         12  plague. I've learned a great deal more than I ever

         13  knew about the plague, and I'm glad to see you here,

         14  glad to see we've weathered that, though I'm not

         15  sure if both of the individuals are going to weather

         16  it, unfortunately. So, hopefully they'll end up

         17  doing better. But I wanted to thank you for your

         18  leadership on that. It's certainly a moment that

         19  could have led to panic and misunderstanding in the

         20  City and you were very much at the helm and very

         21  clear in sending the message out to New Yorkers that

         22  this was not something we needed to panic about,

         23  that it was not going to be transferrable.

         24                 So, thank you for that, and I'll turn

         25  it over to you, and whatever deputies you have with
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          2  you. Just if folks could introduce themselves first

          3  before they testify.

          4                 Thank you.

          5                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Thank you very

          6  much, Chairwoman Quinn, and members of the Council.

          7                 I'm Dr. Thomas Frieden, the

          8  Commissioner of Health and Mental Hygiene for New

          9  York City. With me today is Dr. Mary Bassett, Deputy

         10  Commissioner for Health Promotion and Disease

         11  Prevention, at the Department of Health and Mental

         12  Hygiene.

         13                 Let me start with some background on

         14  this issue. In the early and mid-1990s the Health

         15  Department provided only limited in-school nursing

         16  services. In fact, due to budget issues in the early

         17  1900s, the program was severely curtailed and in

         18  fact nearly eliminated.

         19                 Many areas throughout New York State

         20  and throughout the country have only a limited

         21  presence in schools of nurses.

         22                 In the mid-1990s, at a time when

         23  funding allowed, we began placing nurses in public

         24  and private elementary schools.

         25                 Beginning in Fiscal 2001, funding was
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          2  allocated to support a daily nurse in every private

          3  school with an appropriate medical room that

          4  requested such service.

          5                 Earlier this year it became clear

          6  that the City's budget crisis would require

          7  significant reductions to Department programs.

          8                 We reviewed every program in the

          9  Department, looking at in particular at non-mandated

         10  services. We immediately identified approximately $3

         11  million in unspent funds in the School Health

         12  Program that was in excess of what was required for

         13  the schools requesting services.

         14                 During this review it also became

         15  clear that private schools were receiving a much

         16  greater proportional share of field nursing

         17  resources than were public schools.

         18                 By putting a nurse in every private

         19  school requesting one, we spent $2 per student in

         20  private schools for every one dollar we spent in

         21  public schools.

         22                 While we were providing only one

         23  nurse for every 755 students in public elementary

         24  schools, private schools were receiving one nurse

         25  for approximately every 350 students.
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          2                 What's the situation today?

          3                 We notified schools that the

          4  allocation of nurses to private schools would be the

          5  same proportion as that provided to public

          6  elementary schools, based on a nurse to student

          7  ratio of one nurse to every 755 students.

          8  Approximately $5 million in savings is attributable

          9  to this change.

         10                 The Committee may remember that I

         11  discussed this issue during the Executive Budget

         12  hearing this past May. I noted at the time that we

         13  would be, and I quote, applying the same ratio to

         14  private schools as to public schools.

         15                 I would like to just, Chairwoman

         16  Quinn, I think there is no intent of any side here

         17  to not be clear about what was being done. It is

         18  entirely possible that the full delineation of the

         19  impact wasn't clear, but I would like to read the

         20  dialogue that we had on May 23rd.

         21                 Chairwoman Quinn, as I understand it,

         22  a large chunk of money was put into the budget for

         23  non-public schools who need nurses, but far fewer

         24  requested them than was anticipated myself, and in

         25  addition we are applying the same ratio to
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          2  non-public schools as to the public schools.

          3                 For example, and I don't know the

          4  exact number, if there is one nurse for 800 students

          5  in the public schools, if the public school has 800

          6  students they will get one nurse, and if the

          7  non-public school has 400 students, Chairwoman

          8  Quinn, they will get half a nurse.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: I'm going to jump

         10  in here just because you stepped off your testimony

         11  one second, just to say that if you actually go

         12  through the whole testimony leading up to that, what

         13  we were doing at that moment in the hearing, I'm

         14  sure as you recall, was going through the $6.2

         15  million cut to the nurses' budget. And myself and

         16  the Committee members, and you are your Assistant

         17  Commissioners were saying, okay, so there's 6.2, X

         18  is this, Y is that, til we got to 6.2, to try to get

         19  a sense of where that information came from, because

         20  as you remember, what we were told at the

         21  preliminary, we were then told by the agency in

         22  between the preliminary and the exec was not in fact

         23  the impact of the cut.

         24                 Never once in between those two

         25  hearings were we told that the impact of the cut,
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          2  that this ratio or whatever would mean that less, if

          3  a school called and requested a nurse, they wouldn't

          4  get one.

          5                 So, specifically, as we're going

          6  through the 6.2 prior to what you just read, I say,

          7  let me first say as I understand it, and I could be

          8  wrong, but, and then you say about 2 million for the

          9  non-public reconfiguration. And then I say, and what

         10  that is, the cut that was in the Exec for the

         11  non-public, and just let me say it out loud, and

         12  tell me if I'm wrong, is that a chunk of money was

         13  put in the budget for non-public schools that needed

         14  nurses to step forward and say we need a nurse, and

         15  that money would fund it.

         16                 Far less public schools have stepped

         17  forward and said they needed nurses than we had

         18  anticipated, and then you agree with that statement.

         19                 So, yes, you did mention ratios. You

         20  never once, nor did the office of management and

         21  budget, say that ratios was a code word for cuts,

         22  and as I understand it, the actual decision to

         23  reduce the amount of money that's in the budget for

         24  non-public school nurses by $5 million happened

         25  after the budget was adopted, not prior to the

                                                            20

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  budget being adopted in this testimony.

          3                 And as I understand it, the Office of

          4  Management and Budget has made representations to

          5  the City Council, that as when the budget was

          6  passed, there was -- the Department of Health's

          7  budget was out of whack by $7 million prior to

          8  adoption, a few days before adoption. Our staff

          9  identified that to the Office of Management and

         10  Budget.

         11                 The Office of Management and Budget

         12  told our staff that DOH could absorb that cut

         13  through accruals with no service impact.

         14                 We then, in the interim, have gone to

         15  you guys and to OMB and said, well, why is this cut

         16  now happening, because we've been told by the

         17  agencies this cut happens because of that $7 million

         18  that we were told could be taken through accruals.

         19                 Office of Management and Budget, as

         20  recently as last week, has assured the Director of

         21  our Finance Division, that DOH could have absorbed

         22  that cut through accruals and non-service impacted

         23  changes.

         24                 Now, I'm not commenting, I want to be

         25  clear on whether this cut is the right one or a
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          2  wrong one to make at this moment in time, but it's

          3  very hard to have a process with OMB and their DOH

          4  people say to our people, no, this will have no

          5  service impact, and then we hear two months later

          6  there's been a $5 million cut, now I'm told, no,

          7  none of that is real, it was actually all presented

          8  to you in May.

          9                 I mean, it just doesn't follow, and I

         10  don't know what to do with that, except to say, and

         11  I hate to be so expirated, because we had a great

         12  working relationship until now, what I said to my

         13  staff prior to that, if this is how it's going to be

         14  then we'll have to have three days of hearings with

         15  Department of Health on the budget and go through

         16  every unit of appropriation line by line, because

         17  otherwise I do you a disservice, as well as all

         18  these people and my colleagues, because then I don't

         19  understand what's really in all of that.

         20                 So, given that you stepped off, I

         21  don't understand because it doesn't add up to me

         22  given what we have been told by the Office of

         23  Management and Budget repeatedly, and what we were

         24  told throughout the whole process.

         25                 So, why don't you finish, and then
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          2  we'll go to that, which is clearly my first

          3  question.

          4                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Let me only,

          5  before going back without addressing any of the

          6  details, indicate my commitment going forward to

          7  ensure that to the best of our ability we make clear

          8  not just what any proposed reductions are but what

          9  the implications of those are.

         10                 There are many health services which

         11  we continue to provide in both public and private

         12  schools. We provide children with new admission

         13  physical examinations, we monitor immunizations, we

         14  do targeted vision and hearing testing, we maintain

         15  medical records, follow-up with families for

         16  children with health problems, investigate

         17  communicable disease outbreaks, perform or provide

         18  health education on public health initiatives and

         19  promote children's access to appropriate medical

         20  care.

         21                 We continue to provide all of these

         22  services in private schools.

         23                 For example, this year our mobile

         24  vision and hearing teams will have screened more

         25  than 27,000 private school students in kindergarten
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          2  and first grade.

          3                 As another example, we are currently

          4  investigating a case of tuberculosis in an employee

          5  at a private school in Brooklyn.

          6                 We're performing extensive on-site

          7  education and testing and treatment for students and

          8  staff exactly as we would do if it were a public

          9  school.

         10                 In other words, going to an equitable

         11  distribution of services to public and private

         12  schools will not interfere with our ability to

         13  provide a wide array of services in both systems,

         14  far in excess of what was provided just a few years

         15  ago, and far in excess of what is provided in many

         16  other parts of this state and the country.

         17                 In fact, in 1995 private schools had

         18  approximately 13 nurses assigned to them, and as of

         19  today have approximately 174 nurses assigned to

         20  them.

         21                 The issue of fairness is a critically

         22  important issue and I want to address it head on.

         23                 Some have claimed that reduction of

         24  services to private schools is unfair. While I

         25  understand and fully sympathize with parents who
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          2  advocate for as many resources for their children as

          3  possible, the facts are clear.

          4                 Until recently we were spending

          5  approximately $130 per student in private schools,

          6  compared with $65 per student in public schools.

          7                 Last year this resulted in a

          8  disproportionate expenditure of approximately $8

          9  million.

         10                 It is this disproportionate funding

         11  which is unfair.

         12                 Private schools, with much smaller

         13  student populations were receiving a much greater

         14  nursing intensity. This is unfair to public

         15  elementary schools children. The ratio is unfair,

         16  the spending is unfair.

         17                 What we are doing now is providing

         18  equitable services to public and private schools

         19  alike.

         20                 We are not discriminating against

         21  private schools. In fact, we are correcting what

         22  would otherwise be discrimination against public

         23  school students.

         24                 To ask public school children to

         25  sacrifice public health care, to provide
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          2  disproportionate services to private schools is

          3  unjust.

          4                 In this era of severe budgetary

          5  crisis, it would be irresponsible for us to

          6  disproportionately subsidize private school nursing.

          7                 The next question that arises is

          8  whether the Health Department is acting legally in

          9  this regard. Our policy is fully consistent with

         10  City, State and Federal law.

         11                 Section 2501 of the State Public

         12  Health Law and Section 912 of the State Education

         13  Law, require that health and welfare services

         14  provided to public schools can also be provided in

         15  private schools.

         16                 The State Department of Education has

         17  interpreted these laws to require that services

         18  should be provided to private schools on an

         19  equitable basis, proportional to the number and

         20  needs of pupils in the school.

         21                 The Handbook of the Office of

         22  Non-public School Services, states that in the State

         23  Education Department, states that "this may mean

         24  that a school nurse could spend a -- sorry -- this

         25  may mean that a school nurse could spend a few hours

                                                            26

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  a week in a small school, or be assigned full time

          3  to a large school.

          4                 The next question that arises is who

          5  is responsible for administering medications to

          6  children who need it, and the answer there is clear:

          7  The legal requirement to reasonably accommodate a

          8  child's need for medication administration rests

          9  with the school, not the Health Department.

         10                 If a Department nurse is present in a

         11  private school with a medical room, we will

         12  administer medication to children pursuant to our

         13  mandate to provide proportionate health services,

         14  just as we do in the public schools.

         15                 But to assert that we have an

         16  obligation to provide a daily nurse presence in

         17  private schools, in excess of our proportional

         18  obligation is incorrect.

         19                 The next question that arises is

         20  whether nurses are required in the case of

         21  emergency.

         22                 All facilities should continuously

         23  improve their emergency response capacity, including

         24  the emergency administration of medicines.

         25                 We remain eager to work with public
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          2  and private school administrations alike to

          3  accomplish this.

          4                 When there are emergencies, 911

          5  should be called. Emergency medical technicians, not

          6  nurses, are the appropriate health professionals to

          7  respond.

          8                 Some have asked why we do not remove

          9  nurses from all private schools. There are those who

         10  feel that we shouldn't be in the business of

         11  providing any nursing services to private schools.

         12  Some object that large public schools with 1,000

         13  students are more have only one assigned nurse,

         14  while some private schools with fewer than 200

         15  students have a nurse assigned to them full time.

         16                 However, we're providing now, and

         17  plan to continue to provide proportionate services

         18  to public and private schools.

         19                 Another question that arises is

         20  whether sufficient notice was given to private

         21  schools.

         22                 We do recognize that many schools

         23  have students that require medication

         24  administration, and that there may have been

         25  insufficient time for them to accommodate changes in
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          2  nurse staffing.

          3                 Therefore, all schools were notified,

          4  we would provide additional resources above and

          5  beyond the proportion allocated to public schools,

          6  if needed, until the end of the year.

          7                 Our ability to do this does of course

          8  depend on the availability of nurses.

          9                 During this period we had hoped to

         10  work with the Committee which has traditionally

         11  represented these schools to jointly work out an

         12  allocation of nurses among the private schools that

         13  would best meet their needs within the resources

         14  available.

         15                 Another question that there is, and

         16  an issue that I would very much like to clarify is

         17  whether the Department plans any further reduction

         18  in nursing services to non-public schools.

         19                 I want to clear up this as a

         20  misunderstanding. We'll continue to provide the

         21  proportional share of nursing services to private

         22  schools based on one nurse for every 755 children

         23  after December 31st.

         24                 We understand that some schools and

         25  parents have misinterpreted our plans in our offer
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          2  to provide additional nursing presence between now

          3  and December 31st, as something other.

          4                 We have never intended a total

          5  withdrawal of nurses. This is not the case, and it

          6  has never been our intent.

          7                 Another issue that arises and is

          8  worth addressing is how this issue relates to the

          9  nursing shortage. As you mentioned, Chairwoman

         10  Quinn, it is a national problem. We do have severe

         11  nursing shortages. It is a separate issue from the

         12  equitable resource issue that we're addressing.

         13                 The action we're discussing was

         14  necessary because of budgetary constraints, but we

         15  are also addressing and experiencing a serious

         16  nursing shortage, a problem shared by medical care

         17  providers across the City and across the nation.

         18                 Although we were able to fill some of

         19  our school health vacancies earlier this year, we

         20  still require approximately 140 contract nurses per

         21  day. However, our contractors have only been able to

         22  provide approximately 110 nurses per day, meaning

         23  that on any given day there are some 30 schools,

         24  both public and private, with no school nurse

         25  present that would otherwise have one.

                                                            30

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2                 Despite our best efforts, we may not

          3  always be able to provide the level of nursing

          4  services in the schools that we would all prefer. We

          5  are, however, actively pursuing other options for

          6  temporary nursing services, as well as increased

          7  hiring of nurses for the Department.

          8                 Another issue that arises is

          9  coordination with the Department of Education.

         10                 As you know, the Department of

         11  Education provides nursing services for special

         12  education children, who have an individualized

         13  education plan for special nursing services,

         14  including catheterization, intravenous

         15  administration, feeding tubes and medication

         16  administration.

         17                 The nurse is part of a special

         18  education team which may include a teacher, social

         19  school psychologist, social worker nurse, speech

         20  pathologist and other staff.

         21                 There are specific regulations

         22  governing the provision of these services, special

         23  education services, while there are complex labor

         24  agreements regarding this Division of Labor.

         25                 Now that Department of Education is a
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          2  mayoral agency, we're actively working toward

          3  greater coordination of services.

          4                 If there are any resulting

          5  efficiencies, these will accrue proportionately to

          6  public and non-public schools alike.

          7                 You've asked us to address the

          8  Department's position on Intro. 296. Intro. 296

          9  would require that a daily nurse be placed in all

         10  public elementary and intermediate schools, and in

         11  all private schools upon request.

         12                 This would require the hiring of

         13  approximately 400 more nurses, and it would cost the

         14  City between 15 and 20 million dollars more each and

         15  every year.

         16                 Even if we could find the money, it

         17  is almost certain that we would not be able to find

         18  nurses to fill these positions.

         19                 But more importantly, increasing the

         20  budget for private schools would have to come at the

         21  expense of other critical public health programs.

         22                 This statute would deny public school

         23  students the same health services as private school

         24  students.

         25                 To propose in a time of budget crisis
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          2  that we direct scarce resources disproportionately

          3  to private school students is not justifiable in my

          4  view.

          5                 These are services that are provided

          6  by the Public Health Department with public taxpayer

          7  money, especially in a time of fiscal austerity, it

          8  is crucial that we avoid spending scarce resources

          9  on special privileges for some groups at the expense

         10  of others.

         11                 There are some who have claimed that

         12  the Department has taken this action, because it is

         13  less concerned about the health of students in

         14  private schools.

         15                 Let me state in the strongest

         16  possible terms that I find that allegation to be

         17  irresponsible, to say the least.

         18                 I take no pleasure in reducing any

         19  services relating to public health. I truly wish

         20  that we could continue to provide services that we

         21  previously provided in this and in other programs.

         22                 I wish we could provide a nurse in

         23  each and every school in the City that asks for one.

         24                 I also wish we were able to provide

         25  additional health services to public elementary
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          2  schools where it's not unusual to find one nurse

          3  providing services to 1,000 or 2,000 children. The

          4  policy we're pursuing is to spend the same amount of

          5  money per student in public and private schools.

          6                 That is what the law requires, that

          7  is what is fair, that is what is right, and that is

          8  what we're doing.

          9                 Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Thank you.

         11                 I just want to say we've also been

         12  joined by Council Member Simcha Felder from

         13  Brooklyn, and Council Member Helen Sears of Queens,

         14  who is a member of the Health Committee.

         15                 So, I first want to focus, as you can

         16  tell, more on the process, so if we could start with

         17  that for a second?

         18                 As I understand it, and I think the

         19  fact that the letters went out to the schools on

         20  September 30th further supports the Council's or the

         21  Committee's belief that this decision happened after

         22  adoption, not before, because I believe that if it

         23  had happened before, the Department would have

         24  reached out to the schools before, because the

         25  Department, as you said, does not want negative
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          2  impacts on folks, so if you knew as early as the

          3  passage of the budget in June, I believe you would

          4  have reached out to people immediately because that

          5  would have been the responsible and appropriate

          6  thing to do, and that's what you would have done. I

          7  know that.

          8                 So, if you could comment for me on

          9  the issue of whether or not this cut really was

         10  something that was part of what we were told was the

         11  $2 million reduction, the $2 million reduction which

         12  was part of the overall 6.2 cut to nurses, and

         13  whether or not this is actually an additional $5

         14  million cut to this program, the 2 million arguably

         15  not really having been a cut, it was overbudgeted

         16  because there was less demand.

         17                 So, is it true then that the budget

         18  for non-public school staff has gone down $7 million

         19  in '04 as opposed to '03?

         20                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: First I would

         21  like to make two points. I would like to reiterate

         22  what I said earlier.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Bring the mic up,

         24  Commissioner.

         25                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: I would like to
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          2  reiterate what I said earlier, that we're committed

          3  to being clear and open about any proposed cuts. If

          4  there was any lack of clarity in this case, we

          5  regret it.

          6                 We did say that we were going to a

          7  situation of parity, the full implications of that I

          8  think were not entirely clear until we had the

          9  fuller picture of where the budget was, that

         10  occurred over the summer, just to clarify in terms

         11  of the letters, there were actually two letters that

         12  were sent to non-public schools. First, the letter

         13  was sent from each of the district supervising

         14  nurses so that they could work in their individual

         15  district to try to deal with the allocations that

         16  went out on or before the first day of school.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: That would also

         18  have been September, though?

         19                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: In September.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Okay.

         21                 The letter that I sent at the end of

         22  September was to attempt to clarify that earlier

         23  letter that had been sent and make the offer of

         24  additional services between now and the end of the

         25  calendar year.
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          2                 There was a reduction in the

          3  Department's budget as part of the adoption process.

          4  That reduction did include the elimination of

          5  accruals. The Department had traditionally funded

          6  some of these services through accruals, and that

          7  did exacerbate the financial situation of the

          8  Department.

          9                 As we looked at the overall situation

         10  of the Department, we looked at the inequity that we

         11  saw here and the policy that we had set to go to a

         12  situation of parity, but I would also agree that

         13  this is something that would have been better to

         14  state more clearly, there was no attempt not to

         15  state it. It was something that was a matter of

         16  between eight and thirteen million dollars in

         17  accruals removed from the Department's budget in the

         18  adoption process, a significant proportion of those

         19  accruals had been used for the nursing contracts to

         20  provide for additional nursing in this program.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Commissioner, I

         22  have a couple of questions, and just a follow up on

         23  that.

         24                 It's always been my understanding

         25  that accruals did not traditionally role with
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          2  agencies, so it seems odd that one would, not

          3  necessarily just you, your most recent predecessors

          4  as well, budget programs based on accruals, and this

          5  program also was an initiative of the prior City

          6  Council. So, it's something that they had under the

          7  leadership of Speaker Peter Vallone, proactively

          8  funded, so it seems like it would have been one of

          9  the least things that would have ended up having

         10  been funded through accruals.

         11                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: The addition in

         12  funding was the prior administration, as well as the

         13  prior Council. I agree that generally the budget

         14  should reflect the budget. There are, however, in

         15  large agencies, or in agencies with budgets and

         16  large staffing the possibilities of accruals and

         17  there are times when those are used to fund ongoing

         18  projects.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: But is this an

         20  issue that had been funded by accruals from last

         21  year to this year, shouldn't that have been

         22  identified for the City Council, that this

         23  initiative, although proactively put in the budget

         24  by the Vallone Council, if you will, and the

         25  Giuliani Administration, shouldn't it have been
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          2  flagged then that upon Michael Bloomberg's

          3  inauguration that somehow this was now funded by

          4  accruals and not by the money put in by the

          5  Vallone/Giuliani Administration?

          6                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: I've asked my

          7  Assistant Commissioner for Budget to join us.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Okay, great.

          9                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: They're on

         10  their way here.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Okay.

         12                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: And maybe

         13  you'll let me address that a little later.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Okay, great. Do we

         15  need another chair?

         16                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: He'll be here

         17  momentarily.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Oh, I'm sorry. I

         19  thought you meant -- okay, so all the budget

         20  questions we need to wait then I guess until he gets

         21  here; is that correct?

         22                 Okay, we're going to table those for

         23  a second, and then I'm going to call on Council

         24  Member McMahon, and then I'll come back.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Thank you,
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          2  Madam Chairwoman.

          3                 Commissioner, I am an attorney by

          4  trade, and so I know that an advocacy is never good

          5  for things to become personal, and we are advocating

          6  for different sides and it will never be personal,

          7  so what I say should not be taken personal; however,

          8  the statement that you just gave, and to paraphrase

          9  what you said, let me state in the strongest

         10  possible terms, that I find your analysis that to go

         11  forward with the private school nurse program as it

         12  existed would cause damage to the students in public

         13  schools irresponsible and unacceptable and something

         14  that's pushing us sitting up here to the boiling

         15  point. I think it's an outrage that you do that.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: If you can just

         17  kind of hold outbursts now. Thank you.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: And let me

         19  tell you why. Because we should not be pitting one

         20  child against another child.

         21                 You say in your testimony that to

         22  fund this program as it existed would cause damage

         23  or would hurt other critical programs that the

         24  Department had.

         25                 I'm dying to ask you this question.
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          2  How much does the Department spend on its

          3  anti-smoking campaign that's going on right now?

          4  Isn't it correct that it's $5 million?

          5                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: No, it is not

          6  correct.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: How much is

          8  it?

          9                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: The budget of

         10  the tobacco control program was cut by 70 percent,

         11  far more than any Department of Health program.

         12                 The budget was $13 million

         13  previously. The Council also added back some of

         14  that, that's even after the Council add-back, for

         15  which we're very grateful. The program is all in all

         16  approximately a $5 million program that involves a

         17  wide array of services, including funding of

         18  community-based organizations. In Staten Island and

         19  elsewhere, funding of the station clinics in HHC, as

         20  well as public education on tobacco.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: But the

         22  publicity campaign that's going on right now for the

         23  bill, the Mayor's bill, how much is the budget for

         24  that?

         25                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: There is no
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          2  publicity campaign going on for the Mayor's bill

          3  right now. There are publicity going on on the issue

          4  of secondhand smoke.

          5                 We have evidence-based that tells us

          6  that educating the public about -- let me answer

          7  your question. I will answer any question you ask, I

          8  will treat you with respect, but please let me

          9  finish my answer if you've asked me a question.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Yes.

         11                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: We are using an

         12  evidence-based approach. We know from other

         13  jurisdictions that emphasizing the issue, the very

         14  real issue of how dangerous secondhand smoke is, is

         15  one of the most important and most effective public

         16  education messages to help smokers stop smoking and

         17  to discourage use from smoking. We have a $1.5

         18  million matching grant from the American legacy

         19  foundation, public education on tobacco that we have

         20  obtained recently. Much of the ads that you hear are

         21  funded by that grant. We also are funding, are

         22  paying for education on tobacco control at the rate

         23  of about one-quarter of what we paid last year for

         24  public education on tobacco.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: You didn't
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          2  answer my question. You have a matching grant. You

          3  have to put money up to get the matching grant. How

          4  much in City dollars are we spending?

          5                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: On public

          6  education for tobacco control, which includes all

          7  public education in this fiscal year, we plan to

          8  spend approximately $1.5 million, as compared with

          9  $6 million in previous.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: And that,

         11  Commissioner, is a priority for you; would it be

         12  fair to say that?

         13                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: I think it

         14  would be fair to say, Council member, that that's a

         15  priority for you too. You have a lot of people dying

         16  from tobacco-related illness in your district.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: I understand.

         18  I understand that, but I'm asking you, is that a

         19  priority for you?

         20                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Absolutely.

         21  It's a priority for New York City.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: More of a

         23  priority for you than the funding for the school

         24  nurse in the non-public schools? That's more of a

         25  priority for you; isn't that correct?

                                                            43

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2                 Because you're making the cut to the

          3  nurses in the non-public schools. So for you that's

          4  a greater priority to conduct that program than to

          5  conduct this program.

          6                 It's a higher priority, correct?

          7                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Let me address

          8  that question.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: It's a yes or

         10  no.

         11                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Well, I'm --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: With all due

         13  respect, let the Commissioner answer it and then if

         14  we're dissatisfied with the answer we can do a

         15  follow-up.

         16                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: We cut the

         17  tobacco control program much more deeply than we cut

         18  either the school health program or overall with the

         19  non-public school program specifically.

         20                 There are competing priorities in New

         21  York City. Our challenge is to try to balance them.

         22  I can tell you, without any doubt in my mind, that

         23  many more lives will be saved by an effective

         24  tobacco control program, then by altering the ratio

         25  of nurses to students in the private schools.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: See, that is

          3  a priority for you, right, to do that? And I

          4  understand that, and I don't argue that point. But

          5  the point I want to make is this: I don't sit here

          6  and say to you, Commissioner, put the children's

          7  nurses back in the schools and cut this program or

          8  that program and pit one against the other. What

          9  you've done in your testimony is you've pitted the

         10  public school children against the private school

         11  children and I think that is wrong.

         12                 If we want to categorize our

         13  priorities, we should do that, but what you've just

         14  done is you've now made this an issue for the people

         15  here and the media to be a battle between private

         16  school children and public school children, and that

         17  is wrong. Just like it would be wrong for me to say

         18  to you, don't do your anti-smoking program, put the

         19  money back in for the children. I would not do that

         20  to you.

         21                 Just if I could, two more, Madam

         22  Chairwoman. Maybe three.

         23                 Just to go back to the procedure for

         24  a minute, so that everybody understands. There's

         25  confusion on our part, or disagreement on our part
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          2  about what you told us would be coming down

          3  regarding this program and whether or not there

          4  would be cuts.

          5                 Now, I know what was said in your

          6  transcript, and certainly I did not understand

          7  exactly what you meant by parity, being somewhat new

          8  to this issue, but I do know what your prepared

          9  testimony said. You said, and I quote, "I would like

         10  to emphasize that the savings reflected in the

         11  fiscal 2003 school health program's budget" -- and

         12  this is underlined by you in your prepared testimony

         13  -- "will not result in any school losing its

         14  nursing presence, okay? That's what it says in your

         15  written testimony that you gave out before you

         16  testified, and before you were asked questions,

         17  okay?

         18                 Now, you might say to me that's a

         19  very subtle language, or a coded way of saying what

         20  school presence is, but can you honestly say to the

         21  average person, of average intelligence like myself,

         22  that that is not saying that any school that has a

         23  nurse now will keep its nurse?

         24                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: We continue to

         25  have a nursing presence non-public schools which
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          2  request it. If I had it to do over again, I would

          3  have stated that differently and made it clearer. I

          4  also, I must admit, was relatively new to the agency

          5  at that point and to this issue.

          6                 So, I would have stated it

          7  differently. We do provide a nursing presence. Let

          8  me emphasize that public health nurses do a wide

          9  array of functions in schools, many of those

         10  functions have to do with screening, follow-up,

         11  individual assessments, have to do with reviewing

         12  the medical record of the students. There are only

         13  certain functions that would require, or you would

         14  like to have a daily presence; those two primarily

         15  are medication administration, which is the legal

         16  responsibility of the school administration, not the

         17  Department of Health, and response to emergencies.

         18                 And, remember, even if you have a

         19  full-time nurse, there are going to be days when

         20  they might not be there sick, or professional

         21  development, or lunchbreak, and, so, every entity

         22  should increase its emergency preparedness. But I

         23  will agree, Council Member, that if I had it to do

         24  over again, I would have stated that differently, so

         25  as to be clearer about what we were intending to do.

                                                            47

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Because it

          3  would have been fair for me to think, okay, presence

          4  means having a nurse there in the school as it has

          5  it now.

          6                 All right, so we agree that you

          7  didn't state it properly.

          8                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Perhaps.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: And if I could

         10  just underscore, I hate to interrupt, and we'll get

         11  to this when the Deputy Commissioner for Budget gets

         12  back, in light of today, yes, it should have been

         13  stated clearer, and perhaps if this was always in

         14  mind, it should have been stated clearer, though I

         15  think it perhaps it wasn't stated in a more clear

         16  way, because I don't actually think this was

         17  intended until at the moment this was written,

         18  because I believe it's all a result of what happened

         19  later on in the budget process, but that will become

         20  clear when the Budget Commissioner gets here.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: I understand

         22  that, but --

         23                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: I'm sorry. I only

         24  say that again, because I am loathe for us to take

         25  on the responsibility of not having understood what
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          2  presence meant.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Exactly.

          4  Exactly. Exactly right. And we met last month, we

          5  met last month in the Borough President's Office in

          6  Staten Island, and at that time I said to you, you

          7  know, I wish this had been made more clear, because

          8  I certainly did not think that these cuts were being

          9  made, and in fact, the Council is sometimes able to

         10  make restorations to an agency's budget, and in fact

         11  this Council made a restoration to your budget in

         12  light of what the Mayor had done to your budget and

         13  what was proposed in terms of cuts, we restored $13

         14  million, and I said to you, you know, this issue

         15  hadn't come up, maybe we could have done to try to

         16  do a restoration, and you said to me, oh, no,

         17  Council member, I did receive a restoration of $13

         18  million, but I then had to go to my budget and cut

         19  out another $13 million, in effect saying that what

         20  we believed were restorations to your budget were

         21  just telling you different priorities and you then

         22  had to go make cuts somewhere else. Can you clarify

         23  for me what you said at that point, as opposed to

         24  today. That certainly sounds different at this

         25  point.
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          2                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Actually I

          3  really do think I was saying the same thing then as

          4  what I just said now, which is that with the

          5  adoption process accruals were removed from --

          6  planned accruals, anticipated accruals were removed

          7  from the Department's budget as a result of which

          8  several programs, not just this one, were funded by

          9  anticipated accruals, given difficulties in hiring,

         10  had to be reduced.

         11                 I'm joined by Mr. Richard Nader, who

         12  is Associate Commissioner for Finance of the

         13  Department of Health.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: So, Commissioner,

         15  just to restate a little bit what got asked before

         16  you got here, and this I think goes along very much

         17  with what Council Member McMahon was just saying,

         18  and when the budget was presented to the City

         19  Council, we, as you well know, are given, as well as

         20  being given all the documents, we are given a list

         21  of what the cuts are by agencies, by the Office of

         22  Management and Budget, OMB.

         23                 Never once did OMB outline for the

         24  Council that there was a cut beyond the $2 million

         25  cut to the funding for non-public school nurses. And
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          2  on the record the Commissioner had confirmed that

          3  that $2 million reduction related to the fact that

          4  fewer private -- see, I can't even get it straight

          5  in my head, the pitting again -- fewer private

          6  schools than anticipated had come forward and said

          7  they needed nurses, so in effect we had overbudgeted

          8  so we took it down 2 million.

          9                 That was the only information we ever

         10  received, relating to private school nurses, that $2

         11  million.

         12                 Later in the budget process, our

         13  staff identified for OMB that the budget, the

         14  Department of Health appeared to be $7 million out

         15  of balance towards the end of the process.

         16                 OMB reassured the Council repeatedly

         17  that that was basically based on accruals and that

         18  that $7 million could be absorbed through

         19  eliminating the accruals in the agency, which I

         20  think most of us know is a common practice at the

         21  end of a budget because it's certainly in any time,

         22  but nonetheless a time of finances like this, much

         23  more appropriate way to balance the budget to take

         24  the extra money that's left away, as opposed to

         25  cutting into a program.

                                                            51

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2                 We have been assured even as recently

          3  as last week that OMB had instructed the Department

          4  of Health to take this through accruals and that OMB

          5  assured us that these accruals could occur without

          6  service impact of any kind.

          7                 We've since been notified more

          8  through the agency that $5 million of that seven had

          9  come out of the non-public school nursing budget,

         10  which as I understand it, would have taken the

         11  non-public school staff budget from 8 million, from

         12  about 8 million down 5 million to about 3 million.

         13                 And then the other question is, the

         14  Commissioner has basically put out that -- I'm sorry

         15  -- another important point that was just raised and

         16  raised before -- I'm sorry, just because this is

         17  confusing to me, so I just want you to listen. I'm

         18  sorry. Just because I'm confused. We've now, it

         19  seems to me, been told that this initiative which

         20  had been a Vallone/Giuliani Initiative, a very

         21  proactive initiative two years ago, had evolved at

         22  some point to being funded through accruals, not

         23  through a direct allocation. Since we're being told

         24  that this had to be cut because the accruals were

         25  eliminated.
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          2                 So, in addition to understanding how

          3  this happened in the process, I guess the first

          4  question is, how was it that a Vallone/Giuliani

          5  Initiative that was proactively put in the budget

          6  two years in a row, was switched from being line

          7  item funded, if you will, proactively funded, to

          8  being funded through accruals, which seems a risky

          9  way to fund a program that was a priority of our

         10  former Speaker and our former Mayor. So, if you

         11  could answer our question first, how, when and why

         12  was this switched to accrual funding? Which I didn't

         13  know agencies did their budgets that way.

         14                 Just identify yourself for the

         15  record.

         16                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER NADER: Okay,

         17  my name is Richard Nader, Associate Commissioner of

         18  Budget for the Department of Health.

         19                 First of all, the non-public school

         20  budget, as we speak now, is $8.8 million,

         21  eleven-million-two with fringe benefits currently in

         22  FY '03. As far as funding, the budget is not funded

         23  through accruals. What is funded through accruals,

         24  or assumed as accruals in the program, is

         25  underfilling of nurses, and they use those accruals
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          2  to hire nurses.

          3                 So, when OMB looked at a spending

          4  rate or a spending plan, they would look at what is

          5  active at the moment and project on that. You would

          6  have to adjust that expenditure for hiring part-time

          7  nurses or per diem nurses.

          8                 So, calling it accrual funding is

          9  sort of a misnomer, in a sense if it's not accrual

         10  funding the budget for the school health program, it

         11  was never accrual funded. How you hire nurses,

         12  though, is a function of accruals because you have

         13  vacancies.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Well, I think

         15  we're maybe talking about different things.

         16                 This isn't about vacancies, this is

         17  about actually, it seems to me, reducing the number

         18  of nurses that are available to the non-public

         19  schools, so it doesn't seem to me that's the same

         20  thing. I think you've given us interesting

         21  information, but I don't think it's to the point.

         22                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: I also have

         23  trouble understanding this issue, but I believe I

         24  have just understood it.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Okay.
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          2                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: When OMB, and I

          3  cannot speak for OMB, but when OMB looks at the

          4  expenditures and planned expenditures, they look at

          5  what is the spending rate of the Department. They

          6  looked at an anticipated underspending based on

          7  vacant positions within the school health program,

          8  and removed resources on that basis.

          9                 However, there are complexities in

         10  how nurse positions are filled, one of which is that

         11  there is a per diem rate, so if the snapshot taken

         12  to project accruals occurs in a pay period when

         13  schools are not in session, and therefore nurses are

         14  not paid, it will result in an incorrect

         15  underestimate of the amount of spending.

         16                 And second, what we had done to a

         17  very substantial degree in the last several years is

         18  use a contract, so the nursing service, on staff

         19  nurse, since we couldn't hire all the on-staff

         20  nurses we needed, was being paid by a contract

         21  rather than by personnel services, and that was not

         22  clear through the process. So, the accruals were not

         23  that they weren't budget lined. They were a budget

         24  line, within the School Health Program.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: So then it seems
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          2  to me there's a couple scenarios of what has

          3  happened here. So, it seems to me then, what you're

          4  saying is, the Office of Management and Budget does

          5  not understand how the New York City Department of

          6  Health budget works, because then when they told our

          7  staff that $7 million in accruals could be absorbed

          8  with no service impact, they were either lying,

          9  which I don't believe, or they failed to understand

         10  how the New York City Department of Health budget

         11  works, which is very, very troubling to me, because

         12  I can only take from that they would understand how

         13  no agency's budget works, which means we are blank

         14  out of luck in a $6 billion budget deficit. And

         15  which it also means that the Department of Health is

         16  going to have to have somebody with OMB attached to

         17  their hip at all times during the budget process,

         18  the budget modification process. We can never speak

         19  only to OMB, we are always going to have to have a

         20  DOH person with them, or we will do you and your

         21  agency a disservice.

         22                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Just to again

         23  reiterate, I cannot speak for OMB.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: And clearly they

         25  can't speak for you either, which is a big problem
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          2  from my perspective.

          3                 I don't mean to belabor the point,

          4  but twice now OMB has given me their word about DOH

          5  funding issues relating not just to this, to

          6  something else, and it hasn't held out. So, I want

          7  to be clear that I'm actually requesting a constant

          8  DOH presence with OMB's DOH person at all times

          9  during the budget, and the MOC.

         10                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Just to clarify

         11  also on the amounts, this stuff I must confess to

         12  not really understanding.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Okay, no, that's

         14  fine.

         15                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: But the accrual

         16  cut was approximately 13 million, that includes a

         17  state match, as well as City, so there were other

         18  programs, planned programs that were effective as

         19  well.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Right. The seven I

         21  was talking about was City money.

         22                 Let me just go back, and then I'll

         23  turn it back over to Council Member McMAHON: So, it

         24  seems to me the assertion that this was actually

         25  planned before budget adoption is not true. It seems
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          2  to me that the assertion that there was always a

          3  plan to have this be the reality for private

          4  schools, nurses, doesn't particularly bear out,

          5  given that you and the Deputy Commissioner are

          6  saying this all revolves around OMB's incorrect

          7  misunderstanding that accruals could be absorbed by

          8  the agency.

          9                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: My best

         10  understanding of this process is that in May, and,

         11  again, I was relatively new at that point also, we

         12  wanted to come to a -- we came to a policy change

         13  that related to the issue or equitable services.

         14  That policy change would have short-term and

         15  long-term implications; short term that we went

         16  through, long term in the case of either budgetary

         17  shortfall or nursing shortage that we would go to

         18  the situation of equitable funding.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Sorry to

         20  interrupt, I'm just trying to -- so, then the issue

         21  isn't what OMB said to us about the accruals, okay,

         22  so the issue is that you thought it all along, but

         23  by your own admission didn't make that clear to the

         24  Council, so then let me ask the question, if that is

         25  the case, that it was always anticipated but not
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          2  made clear to the Council, how much money was cut

          3  from the non-public school nursing budget?

          4                 Let me ask the question differently,

          5  as timing is obviously important here.

          6                 When you came to us in May, what was

          7  your anticipation of how much would be cut from the

          8  non-public school nursing budget if the Council made

          9  no changes to the proposal that you were presented

         10  in May of 2002?

         11                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Some of this, I

         12  want to make sure we're accurate in the information

         13  we provide, but some of it I suggest that we provide

         14  written clearly afterward, my best understanding as

         15  an approximation that in May we assumed the

         16  reduction would be on the order of $3 million, once

         17  the City's fiscal situation and the accrual issue

         18  came clearer into focus, that reduction was closer

         19  to $8 million.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: But when you said

         21  now you believed in May it was three, the transcript

         22  says two, but, okay, close enough.

         23                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: To clarify,

         24  just two in City tax levy funds, which aggregates up

         25  to three with State match.

                                                            59

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Okay.

          3                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: And the eight

          4  is with state match, five City tax levy.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Okay. But then if

          6  the number that was believed to be cut from City tax

          7  levy money in May was two, in the transcript you

          8  agree with me when I say that that two related only

          9  to a reduction based on fewer schools coming

         10  forward.

         11                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: The two

         12  related, you are correct. The fact that fewer

         13  schools had requested than anticipated and so the

         14  amount that was put into the budget was more than we

         15  needed to serve, to provide those services.  But we

         16  were also making the policy statement, which clearly

         17  we should have made more clear, that we were going

         18  to a situation of equity, in terms of resource

         19  allocation, as a policy matter.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Just before I turn

         21  it back over to Mike McMahon, I just guess maybe we

         22  need to look at a local law then that requires

         23  agencies then when they change policies to attach

         24  fiscal impact statements to them, as we have to do

         25  with bills, because clearly that's a policy switch
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          2  which has a huge fiscal impact.

          3                 Council Member McMahon, and then

          4  we'll to to the other members.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: So,

          6  Commissioner, this cut in the non-public school

          7  nurses is really not a budget issue for you, is it?

          8  It's really an issue of what you perceive to be

          9  fair?

         10                 Because you said I would have made

         11  this cut whether I had the budget issue or the

         12  shortage of nurses. And when you came in here in

         13  May, you had reviewed this program and you said, you

         14  know what? In my opinion, Commissioner Frieden

         15  opinion, this is not a fair program, and I'm going

         16  to do a parity set-up here as the way I perceive it

         17  to be fair.

         18                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: I think this is

         19  primarily a budget issue. If we had the money, I

         20  would love to provide a nurse in every school in New

         21  York City.

         22                 However, given the lack of resources,

         23  whether human or financial, I don't think it's fair

         24  to pay $130 per pupil in the non-public schools,

         25  compared to $65 per pupil in the public schools. I
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          2  don't think that's fair.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: And in your

          4  opinion, if the non-public schools want a nurse then

          5  they should pay for it themselves, right? And in

          6  fact, you have said repeatedly that was what was

          7  done before the Giuliani/Vallone Initiative, and if

          8  they want a nurse they should pay for it themselves,

          9  right?

         10                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: I have not said

         11  that, what I have said is the legal responsibility

         12  for medication administration, to the extent that

         13  it's required, for the reasonable accommodation of

         14  children with a disability, children who require

         15  medications, is legally with the school

         16  administration, not the Department of Health.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: And,

         18  therefore, that school administration should pay for

         19  the nurse; isn't that what you're inferring really?

         20  That if they really want the nurse so bad they

         21  should pay for it themselves? Isn't that what you're

         22  saying?

         23                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: We do not have

         24  resources to cover. What we would like to do is work

         25  collaboratively with school administrations to
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          2  optimize resources that are available so that we can

          3  figure out a way perhaps to provide a nurse on some

          4  days in the school, on others. Perhaps we can figure

          5  out a way that some students can be accommodated

          6  without a regular nursing presence.

          7                 We're perfectly willing to work as

          8  collaboratively as possible to provide the maximum

          9  services available within the available resources.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Okay.

         11                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: And if more

         12  resources were available, as I would say for the

         13  third time now, I would love to put a nurse in every

         14  school.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: And lastly,

         16  how do you answer the question, if you don't provide

         17  -- you see a $65 saving because you've given us a

         18  number that's exactly 100 percent more to put a

         19  nurse in a private school, a non-public school than

         20  a public school.

         21                 I'd like to see how you would give us

         22  those numbers if you could, I'd ask you to tell me

         23  how you came up with that.

         24                 And the last time we met at the

         25  Borough Board the other day on Staten Island, you
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          2  told me you would give me a list of the public

          3  schools that do not have nurses on staff; how do you

          4  answer the question, but, Commissioner, if these

          5  children went into the public school system, all

          6  250,000 of them, then the inequity would not be $65

          7  per child, as you calculate it, it would be $10,000

          8  per child the City would have to pay, if not more.

          9                 Doesn't the City have an obligation

         10  to look at that fact and say, you know what? First,

         11  if it is $65, which I find hard to believe, but even

         12  if it is, if it is, for $65 we're allowing each and

         13  every one of these children to stay in a school

         14  system that provides them a good education, and is

         15  not a drain on City tax dollars when we have a

         16  budget crisis, shouldn't the City look at that and

         17  say wait a minute, let's keep these kids in school?

         18                 And I know, I know as you sit there

         19  you're saying, oh, Councilman, the 250,000 parents

         20  will never do that - but you know what? Probably

         21  hundreds, probably hundreds of children who are

         22  reliant on diabetes injections, who are reliant on

         23  having epipins and all of the things for their

         24  allergies that could occur in any minute will be

         25  forced to go to public school because they are no
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          2  longer getting the health care that they need.

          3                 You are now putting a drain on the

          4  public school system, if not 250,000, maybe 2,500,

          5  but again, the City loses that savings.

          6                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: I'm not going

          7  to address the broader issues of school attendance

          8  or school enrollment.

          9                 On the issue of funding, we can share

         10  with you the back-up for the 130 and the $65

         11  calculation. We have that in some detail, we can

         12  share it with the Council.

         13                 Subsequently I actually had a list of

         14  the public schools that don't have nursing presence

         15  on my desk, I left it back at the office, but I do

         16  have it and I can get it to you subsequently.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Well, I'm

         18  going to turn it over, but why --

         19                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: I can get it

         20  faxed over here.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Why can't you

         22  address the issue of the attendance in schools. I

         23  mean, we as a City, we are here, a City Council and

         24  the Department of Health, we've got issues of

         25  education, what would happen to the system, what
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          2  would happen to your budget, because that would mean

          3  an increase that you would have to provide in the

          4  public schools, I mean how can we not look at the

          5  broader issue?

          6                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: I'm the Health

          7  Commissioner. So, I'm not the Education

          8  Commissioner, I'm not the Mayor, but if students go

          9  to the public school system, then we would increase

         10  -- in fact, in this scenario there would be no

         11  difference in the Department's budget because our

         12  ration would be the same, the public and non-public.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: And what are

         14  the chances of you reversing this decision and

         15  restoring the nurses? Do you have any intention of

         16  doing that? Or are these cuts remaining fast and I

         17  say that to help me advocate my bill.

         18                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: We are looking

         19  at, at the Department of Health, a reduction of

         20  approximately $100 million, since the start of this

         21  calendar year in budget.

         22                 In addition to the $64 million or so

         23  that was taken so far including this reduction,

         24  there are, as you know, reduction of 7.5, plus 2,

         25  plus 4 percent going forward. These are not one-year
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          2  reductions, these are long-term baseline reductions

          3  that require the further reduction in services that

          4  we wish we couldn't reduce.

          5                 So, we do not currently have the

          6  resources to change this policy.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: If I could just

          8  note one thing, and then ask a question, and then

          9  I'm going to call on Councilman Oddo, I just want to

         10  state before it gets lost, obviously there's

         11  disagreement on the substance of what happens, and

         12  substance of the decision of this cut, and clearly

         13  disagreement on the process by which it happened.

         14  But I do want to thank the

         15  Commissioner for making the statement that you

         16  should have been more clear.

         17                 You know, I just want to note that,

         18  because it is not frequent that a Commissioner even

         19  makes a statement like that, some may argue we

         20  haven't gone far enough, or this decision was still

         21  wrong, but for the record, I want to, you know,

         22  thank you for stating that, because it is not

         23  frequently that a Commissioner admits on any level

         24  that they've done anything wrong. We're going to

         25  continue to argue and disagree, but nonetheless,
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          2  when we can say something nice we should try to do

          3  that.

          4                 But, you know, the staff reminded me

          5  they've never actually heard a Commissioner say that

          6  before, so eight years of Giuliani.

          7                 Now I have a question before I call

          8  on Council Member Oddo.

          9                 One of the issues that has been

         10  raised as the Health Committee staff has spoken to

         11  nursing experts and public health experts about this

         12  cut, is that certainly the cut is based a lot around

         13  the ratio issue, of one to 755 or that range, or in

         14  public and private, but it doesn't seem to in any

         15  way shape or form take into the issue of acuity or

         16  what level of illnesses any of the children have in

         17  the schools, nor the fact that Catholic schools, for

         18  better or worse -- I went to Catholic school, so I

         19  keep saying that, non-public schools tend to be

         20  smaller, so you're going to have less nurses in

         21  buildings, which is a real issue, if a kid comes

         22  forward, and how that has been thought through in

         23  connection with the acuity issue of what problem

         24  kids have and how we balance that out, as opposed to

         25  just being driven by the numbers.
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          2                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Thank you for

          3  the question and the comment.

          4                 I would reiterate that the State

          5  Department of Education indicates that services

          6  should be provided on an equitable basis

          7  proportional to the number and needs of pupils in

          8  the schools, and we do not have objective evidence

          9  currently of the level of need, but I would

         10  conjecture that on average, and there are certainly

         11  differences from school to school, but on average

         12  the needs of students in the public schools would be

         13  greater than the needs of students in the non-public

         14  schools.

         15                 One of the issues that we look

         16  forward to working with a non-public school

         17  administration on is saying if we have scarce

         18  resources, what is the best way to allocate them?

         19  How can we address a school that has 200 students

         20  but a higher level of need compared to a school that

         21  has 300 students but a lower level of need.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Council Member

         23  Oddo.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Thank you, Madam

         25  Chair. If I might, I'd like to editorialize on a few
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          2  points and then ask a couple of questions of the

          3  Commissioner.

          4                 The first is, Commissioner, I'm

          5  really chagrinned by what seems to be the overriding

          6  factor in this decision for you, this $130 per

          7  student versus $65 per student. If other agencies in

          8  the City of New York had that sort of mindset, I

          9  think we would be dumping garbage in Central Park,

         10  because it's a whole lot cheaper than shipping it

         11  out.

         12                 If we weren't dealing with kids and

         13  the health of kids, maybe kind of that fiscal bottom

         14  line might be a bit more compelling, and that

         15  clearly, as Council Member McMahon has brought out

         16  in his questioning, seems to be the overriding

         17  factor here.

         18                 And I, too, would like to go on

         19  record and say that I was a bit taken aback by the

         20  tone of testimony that I see as divisive. It is

         21  politically incorrect for elected officials to

         22  either say they have children in non-public schools

         23  or they are a product of non-public schools. Each of

         24  us, regardless of our educational background worked

         25  our tails off to protect and enhance services for
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          2  the public schools. That is our mandate.

          3                 But I'll be damned if I have to tone

          4  down my defense of kids in non-public schools. And I

          5  really take offense to the characterizations of

          6  pitting one versus the other.

          7                 The second thing is, we don't pay the

          8  Fire Department based on the number of fires. We pay

          9  them to be an insurance policy. They are a safety

         10  blanket, and while I note and am appreciative of the

         11  efforts about immunization and vision and medical

         12  record maintenance, the issue that we're talking

         13  about are those emergencies, and that is the

         14  overriding factor in our minds.

         15                 Lastly, and I hope I don't sound too

         16  defensive, but just to make sure that everyone

         17  understands the confusion or the misdirection during

         18  the budget go-around, Council Member Lanza, Council

         19  Member McMahon and myself, are three members of the

         20  budget negotiating team.

         21                 In the processes the Mayor proposes a

         22  budget and there are certain cuts in that budget and

         23  the Council budget negotiating team comes together

         24  and we analyze and we try to restore based on our

         25  priorities.
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          2                 The three of us clearly care about

          3  this issue, and if this issue even remotely

          4  resembled a cut to these kids back then, there would

          5  have been hell to pay back in those budget

          6  negotiating. The same way that the three of us kind

          7  of swam upstream to save composting, and we were

          8  passionate and our blood pressures run up, the same

          9  passion would have been put to this issue.

         10                 So, I want to make sure at the risk

         11  of sounding too defensive that everyone understand

         12  that there's a process and there's a process that we

         13  go that we try to make restorations based on our

         14  priorities, and clearly we didn't realize the fight

         15  that we had on our hands.

         16                 Now, to the specific question, you

         17  mentioned in the last response about the state law.

         18  To my knowledge, this is the first time we're

         19  hearing from your agency your interpretation of the

         20  New York State Education Law, Section 912.

         21                 Is your testimony based on

         22  conversations with the State Education Department?

         23  Is your testimony based on an interpretation given

         24  to you by them, or is your testimony based on your

         25  interpretation of what the law is? Have you

                                                            72

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  communicated with them?

          3                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: I'd like to

          4  turn this over to Mr. Wilfredo Lopez, our General

          5  Counsel.

          6                 MR. LOPEZ: Good afternoon. The State

          7  Department of Education has put out a document

          8  entitled "Handbook on Services" to pupils attending

          9  non-public schools.

         10                 In that document there are

         11  statements, specifically question and answer, and

         12  the substance of the answer is as follows.

         13                 The question is, "Must a school

         14  district provide school nursing services in a

         15  non-public school?"

         16                 And the answer that they gave is: "If

         17  the District provides nursing services in public

         18  school, these services are to be made available to

         19  the non-public school on a basis proportional to the

         20  number of needs of the pupils in the schools."

         21                 And then it goes on to have that

         22  quote that was in the Commissioner's testimony.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: So the agency

         24  made a decision to reduce staffing which, and I

         25  don't mean to be melodramatic but I think is
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          2  accurate, which could be in certain instances, the

          3  difference between life or death, based on a

          4  publication, not based on an actual conversation.

          5  Did you seek an interpretation and a clearance from

          6  the State Department of Health, the State Department

          7  of Education before you implemented?

          8                 MR. LOPEZ: I think as a general

          9  proposition, when an agency puts out a guidance

         10  document with regard to the laws that apply to it,

         11  that document can be taken as a guidance and you

         12  don't need to go ask a specific opinion because

         13  that's why they put out the book in the first place.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Well, I disagree

         15  with that. When you consider the stakes, I think at

         16  the very least the agency could have picked up the

         17  phone, had a conversation with somebody at the State

         18  Department of Education.

         19                 Our reading of it, your parity

         20  analysis, sort of the counting heads approach, our

         21  reading of it is that it clearly flies in the face

         22  of the statute, and the whole point of the statute

         23  is to ensure that there is equal access to free

         24  health and welfare services.

         25                 Our reading of the state law is
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          2  contra to yours, and I guess should the agency stand

          3  by the decision and should be we unsuccessful in

          4  Council Member McMahon and Lanza's legislation, we

          5  think that we have grounds to challenge your

          6  interpretation of that statute.

          7                 And I really, really, really, really,

          8  really hope it doesn't come to that, but if it has

          9  to, certainly we will.

         10                 MR. LOPEZ: I should point out that

         11  there is some case law on this issue.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Yes, the Burke

         13  case. And our reading of that case differs greatly

         14  from what I'm sure your argument will be.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: What case was

         16  that? Just restate the name of the case?

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Appeal --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Because we should

         19  have counsel look at it.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Appeal of Philip

         21  L. Burke. I'll give you the accurate cite later on.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Okay, thank you.

         23                 MR. LOPEZ: That might not be the only

         24  case on the issue, and we could provide you whatever

         25  other citations.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO a few weeks ago

          3  the Staten Island Delegation held a meeting with

          4  folks from DOH and the Bloomberg Administration, and

          5  we asked, and we raised the issue and you touched

          6  upon it in your testimony about the fact that there

          7  are other health practitioners, if you will, in

          8  certain schools, Department of Education health

          9  officials, we asked at that time for a breakdown

         10  because it seems to us the parity can't be defined

         11  as some schools have three health practitioners, and

         12  others having none. And I guess fairness, as you

         13  alluded to in your testimony, depends or is

         14  predicated on how you define it.

         15                 We have not received back that

         16  analysis, when can we expect that from the Bloomberg

         17  Administration?

         18                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Could you just

         19  clarify, what meeting was this?

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: This was a

         21  meeting held three weeks ago among Council Member

         22  Lanza, McMahon, myself, Council Member Golden, Dr.

         23  Bassett, members of the Bloomberg's Administration's

         24  City Legislative Affairs, and we raised the issue of

         25  certain schools having health practitioners from
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          2  other agencies other than yours, and the promise

          3  made to us is that there would be an analysis, and

          4  we can determine exactly who is in each of these

          5  different schools, so that we can redefine what

          6  parity is.

          7                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Just to

          8  clarify, just to respond to your question.

          9                 Dr. Bassett.

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: Hi. I'm

         11  Dr. Bassett, I'm Deputy Commissioner of Health

         12  Promotion and Disease Prevention. I remember the

         13  meeting that Councilman Oddo is speaking of, we have

         14  these data and we made them available to the office,

         15  so I'm sure they're on their way to you. There were

         16  other, at this meeting which had present members of

         17  the non-public schools committee, there is also a

         18  request for other information, as we can all see

         19  this afternoon, related to the budget, some of which

         20  has been discussed in the Commissioners. As we can

         21  all see, these are complicated issues, we hope to

         22  meet with him directly and discuss these numbers

         23  when we turn them over to them, but we're happy to

         24  make those numbers available.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Commissioner,
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          2  I'm troubled by how you define parity, and you

          3  mentioned it, and you sort of glossed over it in

          4  your testimony, I mean you have some schools out

          5  there that have population, student population of

          6  300 kids. In my district, all three, one has 300,

          7  one has 500, one has 1,300, and each receives one

          8  full-time Health Department, so -- Health Department

          9  nurse, so you don't seem to be troubled by those

         10  numbers. Yet, you use the parity, the 750 to 1 ratio

         11  as a rationale for cutting services to non-public

         12  schools.

         13                 Isn't that inconsistent?

         14                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Our perspective

         15  is that we should spend the same amount per pupil in

         16  public and non-public schools. That's the policy

         17  that we are implementing at this time.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Even if that

         19  means that you're placing kids at risk?

         20                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: We really don't

         21  believe we're placing children at risk.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: I think you're

         23  going to hear testimony from parents whose children

         24  go to non-public schools who have these allergies

         25  and these illnesses that will testify contrary to
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          2  that.

          3                 Madam Chair, one last question.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Sure.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Could you

          6  explain to me, because I've been up here for way too

          7  long, as Council Member Quinn, and I've seen 11

          8  budgets now, and God knows how many budget mods, the

          9  dialogue between Council Member Quinn and you folks

         10  confused me, so I can only imagine the folks in the

         11  audience who not part on this day-to-day, but can

         12  you explain to me, the nurses that were in the

         13  non-public schools last year, Academy of St.

         14  Dorothy, you had a nurse five days a week, now it

         15  has a nurse on Mondays and Wednesdays and every

         16  other Tuesday or something to that effect, where are

         17  all the nurses now? And explain to me in language

         18  that I can understand, that describes to me, or

         19  delineates to me where the savings are generated.

         20                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: I'm sorry, just

         21  so I can be sure to answer correctly, could you

         22  restate your question? I'm not sure I understood it.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Yes. The nurse

         24  that was in St. Dorothy's five days a week last

         25  year, now they have a nurse on Tuesdays and
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          2  Thursdays and every other Monday; where is that

          3  nurse currently? Has she been laid off? Has she been

          4  reassigned to another school? Is she in another

          5  borough? And how do you generate, how did you

          6  generate the savings?

          7                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: I had asked for

          8  that information in preparation for this hearing.

          9  It's one of the two things I left on my desk before

         10  coming. I will, however, give Council Member

         11  McMahon, because we had the other one faxed over

         12  here, the answer to his question.

         13                 However, there are a number of

         14  schools like the ones you mentioned, which had a

         15  full-time nursing presence which now have a

         16  part-time nursing presence.

         17                 With regard to the nurses in Staten

         18  Island, there were, and I will get you the exact

         19  numbers, before I believe there were 15 nurses,

         20  redeployed, nine -- all to Brooklyn, which was

         21  under-resourced for nursing presence. Of those, nine

         22  were redeployed to other non-public schools, and six

         23  to public schools, just by allocation of personnel

         24  issues. Of those several decided to resign. One went

         25  on medical leave, and some are in their non-public
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          2  or public schools in Brooklyn.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Well, I just

          4  asked my colleague, am I thick or -- so how do you

          5  generate the reduction --

          6                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: In savings, right.

          7                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: The savings

          8  come from going from a five-day-a-week presence, to

          9  a two-, or three-, or four-day-a-week presence.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Then I guess the

         11  question is since those nurses haven't been laid

         12  off, it seems like --

         13                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: We have an

         14  ongoing severe nursing shortage.

         15                 If I could hire another 150 nurses

         16  tomorrow, I would. And while we have that nursing

         17  shortage, we use contract nurses.

         18                 Last year we spent about $10 million

         19  on contract nurses, so it's a question of reducing

         20  the number of contract nurses that we call for each

         21  day, not a question of laying off, no nurse was laid

         22  off as a result of this. Quite the contrary, we

         23  continue to try to hire as many nurses as we can to

         24  fill the vacancies.

         25                 But the reduction has been in the
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          2  number of nurses who we request per day from the

          3  contractor, and if I remember correctly, we were

          4  requesting something like 274 nurses a day, and now

          5  we're requesting about 140 nurses a day.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Council Member

          7  Lanza.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER LANZA: Thank you,

          9  Madam Chair.

         10                 Commissioner, I regret that I must

         11  begin by saying that I've not been more offended by

         12  any testimony that I've heard in this testimony

         13  today.

         14                 And I don't know where to begin, so

         15  I'll begin by reminding you of your testimony in

         16  particular, and perhaps this explains this decision.

         17                 You testified that you consider

         18  putting a nurse in every school a special privilege

         19  that is not worthy of funding during these fiscal

         20  times. And I think that underscores what I see to be

         21  a mean-spirited decision here.

         22                 And let me then ask you, what is the

         23  entire budget of the Department of Health?

         24                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: First let me

         25  reiterate something that Council Member McMahon said
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          2  earlier, that while we may differ in terms of

          3  approach, none of this is intended as any personal

          4  assault or attack on anyone.

          5                 I would also reiterate what I was

          6  intending to say in the strongest possible terms,

          7  that any suggestion that we care less for children

          8  in one system or another I consider to be offensive,

          9  and that statement has been getting made fairly

         10  often, and that's what I was responding to.

         11                 I care equally for every child in New

         12  York City.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER LANZA: Commissioner,

         14  I'm still offended. I'm offended that children in

         15  St. Clair's and St. Dorothy's and St. Theresa's have

         16  to worry and their parents have to worry that they

         17  don't make it home in the same condition that they

         18  left in the morning. So, I'm still offended.

         19                 But the question is, what is the

         20  budget, the entire budget of the Department of

         21  Health?

         22                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: In answer to

         23  your question, our entire budget, including City,

         24  State, federal, many of which are categorical for

         25  specific programs and cannot be transferred, many of
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          2  which is mandated and cannot be reduced, is about

          3  $1.36 billion. And just to clarify, that's the

          4  combination of what was previously the Department of

          5  Health, with the Department of Mental Health, Mental

          6  Retardation and Alcoholism Services. So that's a

          7  combination of the two agencies.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER LANZA: Let me

          9  precisely quote a portion of your testimony today,

         10  which seems to me to be your logic for the decision

         11  that's been made.

         12                 You said a few minutes ago, in a time

         13  of fiscal austerity, it is crucial that we avoid

         14  spending scarce resources on special privileges for

         15  some groups at the expense of others, and, yet,

         16  you're here to tell us that you're going to spend

         17  $1.36 billion and not spend a dime on putting a

         18  nurse in every school.

         19                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: That's not what

         20  I'm saying.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER LANZA: So,

         22  Commissioner, isn't it --

         23                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: What I'm saying

         24  is that we're spending $11 million --

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER LANZA: Commissioner,
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          2  isn't that precisely what we're doing when you spend

          3  $1.36 billion on some things and not on this

          4  program?

          5                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: We're spending

          6  currently more than $11 million on non-public school

          7  nurses. We have every intention to continue that in

          8  any way that we can make those resources work

          9  better, more efficiently, stretch them more, if we

         10  can figure out ways to configure nursing services so

         11  that they address the needs there. I would very much

         12  like to do that.

         13                 We're in very difficult fiscal times.

         14  We've made a series of very difficult fiscal

         15  decisions. I wish we had more resources. I wish we

         16  could put a nurse in every school.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER LANZA: Commissioner,

         18  the point remains, is that you've decided to spend

         19  money, a lot of it, according to your priorities,

         20  and not according to other priorities, and I didn't

         21  want to get into this, because I think we've talked

         22  about it at length, but I think it's particularly

         23  insulting to come here and somehow shift the blame

         24  of this decision to the City Council, and I must

         25  tell the good people in this room, and our good
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          2  children, and the parents out there, that the City

          3  Council did nothing, there is no law, there has been

          4  no vote that required the Department of Health to

          5  cut a single nurse from a single school. And, in

          6  fact, I will remind you, Commissioner, that the

          7  budget was passed in July, and a few days before

          8  school was to begin in September, your office could

          9  not tell me what the policy was going to be in a

         10  couple of days upon the school opening with respect

         11  to whether or not there would be a nurse in the

         12  school or not.

         13                 So that, as far as I'm concerned,

         14  drives home the point that this decision was not

         15  mandated, required by City Council or anyone else,

         16  except a discretionary decision made by your

         17  Department. So, it's insulting to say that this

         18  decision was made by someone beside your department.

         19                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Let me just

         20  clarify some issues relating to the budget. Our

         21  budget is approximately $400 million for early

         22  intervention that goes to children throughout the

         23  City in all sectors without regard to ability to

         24  pay, to provide special vocational rehabilitational

         25  speech and other therapies.
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          2                 We have services, and those are

          3  mandated services over which we have no discretion.

          4  There are other programs which are large and

          5  mandated in which we have no discretion to reduce.

          6                 I would comment that the second

          7  largest program, of all of the programs within the

          8  Department of Health is the School Health Program,

          9  following the Early Intervention Program.

         10                 Other large programs include our day

         11  care program, we license every day care in New York

         12  City; would you have us stop doing that? We provide

         13  oral help to children without regard to ability to

         14  pay; would you stop having us do that?

         15                 We do an asthma initiative in every

         16  neighborhood throughout New York City, would you

         17  stop having us do that?

         18                 We verify the immunization status

         19  with every child in New York City; would you stop

         20  having us do that?

         21                 We have a physically handicapped

         22  children's program; would you stop having us do

         23  that?

         24                 We have a lead poisoning prevention

         25  program; would you stop having us do that?
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          2                 We have alcohol, substance abuse and

          3  other prevention programs, a very large proportion

          4  of our budget is youth related, approximately half.

          5                 There are also a large number of

          6  programs which we by law must continue to do. We

          7  inspect every restaurant; we license animals, we

          8  issue birth and death certificates.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER LANZA: Commissioner,

         10  I'm sorry, I must interrupt you.

         11                 I understand that there are a lot of

         12  good things the Department of Health does, but quite

         13  simply, my question was, how is it that you can

         14  somehow tell people that there was a decision made

         15  in July when we passed the budget that required your

         16  decision to cut nurses in September, and, yet, in

         17  September you could not tell my office, Councilman

         18  McMahon's office, Councilman Oddo's office,

         19  Congressman Fossello's office what was going to

         20  happen on the first day of school. That's the simple

         21  question.

         22                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: I've said, and

         23  I reiterate that I wish we had been clearer last May

         24  in the budget process. At the same time, I don't

         25  know what the interactions were between you or the
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          2  other individuals you mentioned, my staff. One of

          3  the issues that we were dealing with in September

          4  was looking at the enrollment of each school, how

          5  many students, how many of those students were on

          6  daily medication administration?

          7                 What we have been trying to do is

          8  balance scarce resources with need. And, so, the

          9  specifics depend very much on what children are in

         10  that school at that time and what medications

         11  they're receiving. That's the kind of detail that we

         12  need in order to allocate the resources as

         13  efficiently as we can, given the limited resources

         14  that we have.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER LANZA: All right, I'll

         16  just make one more point on that and we'll move on.

         17                 The fact of the matter is, is that

         18  your office right now, as we sit here, as the

         19  discretion to put a nurse in every school.

         20                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Only if we cut

         21  $5 million in other public health services.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER LANZA: And you have

         23  the discretion to do that, and so you have the

         24  discretion to replace and put back a nurse in every

         25  school, and, so, if that's the case, this decision
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          2  was not made by the City Council in July, it was

          3  made by the discretion of your office.

          4                 Let me ask you, in your expert

          5  opinion, as the Commissioner of Health and as a

          6  doctor; do you believe, is it your expert opinion,

          7  do you believe that the presence of a nurse in a

          8  school potentially saves lives?

          9                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: What I believe,

         10  Council Member, is that throughout the United

         11  States, it's the exception rather than the rule to

         12  have a nurse in every school. That's the case in New

         13  York City, that's the case throughout the country.

         14                 Would I like to have a nurse in every

         15  school? Absolutely. Do I think there are some

         16  circumstances that will be better managed with a

         17  nurse there, absolutely.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER LANZA: Commissioner,

         19  that's not my question.

         20                 In your expert opinion, do you

         21  believe that the presence of a nurse in a school

         22  potentially saves lives?

         23                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: The most

         24  important thing we can do is repair for emergencies,

         25  if there are emergencies. That preparation is
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          2  required whether or not there is a nurse present. If

          3  there's an emergency, an emergency medical

          4  technician is the appropriate person to respond.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER LANZA: Commissioner, I

          6  don't get paid by the hour. I'll wait all day. In

          7  your expert opinion, do you believe that the

          8  presence of a nurse in a school potentially saves

          9  lives? And I'll wait all night.

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: I think

         11  a nurse is a health care provider and is trained

         12  appropriately in emergency response, can save a

         13  life. So can anyone else who is trained

         14  appropriately to respond to an emergency who is

         15  appropriately certified.

         16                 So, I don't think, Councilman Lanza,

         17  it's a little bit of a trick question. Have you

         18  asked us the question, is the only way to assure the

         19  safety of our kids in schools to have a nurse in

         20  every school, I think that the answer to that is no.

         21  We know that because we have many schools throughout

         22  this country, we have schools today in the City

         23  where we don't have a nurse present. Until the

         24  mid-1990s we did not have a daily nursing presence

         25  in our schools.
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          2                 If you went to a public school, which

          3  I don't know whether or not you did, you, in this

          4  City you went to a school which did not have a daily

          5  nursing presence. I assume you went there before

          6  1995.

          7                 So, I hope that you can see we're not

          8  trying to slip out of the question that you're

          9  asking --

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER LANZA: And I'm not

         11  going to let you do it.

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: And I

         13  understand that.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER LANZA: Do you believe

         15  that the presence of a nurse in a school potentially

         16  saves lives? There are no tricks there. It's a very

         17  simple question.

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: I would

         19  like to know if you have a nurse presence in this

         20  building at this time.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER LANZA: We've got a

         22  room full of them.

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: Well,

         24  we're all doctors.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Can I just say,
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          2  Commissioner, with all due respect, with all due

          3  respect, the questions get asked, and maybe it isn't

          4  the best way, and we can sit down some day and talk

          5  about changing the structure of the New York City

          6  Council hearings, but the questions get asked on

          7  this side of the table to the people at that side of

          8  the table to the people at that side of the table.

          9  So whether or not we have a nurse here now, which we

         10  happen to, or we ever have a nurse here, unless they

         11  ask you that question about whether DOH provides us

         12  one, it is not a question relevant to this

         13  procedure, that's not how the process works, for

         14  better or worse.

         15                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: I stand

         16  corrected, it was a rhetorical question.

         17                 The point being that the best

         18  response to an emergency situation in my opinion is

         19  not assured by having a nurse present. The best

         20  response is having an emergency plan and access to

         21  emergency services.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER LANZA: Commissioner,

         23  do you believe the presence of a nurse in a school

         24  potentially saves lives?

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: I've
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          2  done my best to answer the question.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER LANZA: You can refuse

          4  to answer the question. That would be fine.

          5                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Actually I do

          6  feel I've answered it twice. I'll say one last thing

          7  in an attempt to answer it.

          8                 I believe the presence of any trained

          9  medical professional, in any building, anywhere in

         10  New York City does have the potential of increasing

         11  the possibility of saving a life.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER LANZA: Thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Thank you.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER LANZA: And, so, that

         15  is the point here. We're offended. We talk about

         16  fairness and we talk about parity, and we talk about

         17  presence, and I've been told not to use props here,

         18  but we all mean that to have the plain language

         19  definition. And, so, it's appalling to us that the

         20  lives in some schools are worth saving, but that's

         21  it's not worth $165 or $265 or $2,065 to save the

         22  lives in other schools. Because common sense

         23  dictates that the presence of a medical profession

         24  in a school saves lives.

         25                 And, so, all we're asking is that you
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          2  exercise your discretion, and change your decision,

          3  and protect all but not some of our children. And I

          4  know you say you have a list here that talks about

          5  the schools, the public schools that have had nurses

          6  removed, and quite frankly, we've been asking for

          7  those numbers for months now, but I guess I'll ask a

          8  different question.

          9                 Are there any public schools that

         10  have fewer than 750 children that have nurses today?

         11                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Just on the

         12  first issue, I did have the list faxed over from my

         13  desk.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Commissioner, if

         15  someone gives a copy, we can make copies.

         16                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: The schools are

         17  PS 63, 142, PS 1, PS 41, PS 18, 49, 277, 366, 100,

         18  332 and three schools which have names but which I'm

         19  told public schools with no numbers, the Reisenback

         20  Charter, Suzulu Academy and Harlem Day Charter

         21  (phonetic).

         22                 We would like to provide nurses to

         23  all of those schools. Again, the contractor, as I

         24  mentioned in my testimony has not been able to

         25  provide the number of nurses that we would like.

                                                            95

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2                 And then your second question, yes,

          3  there are public schools that have less than 755

          4  students, there are also public schools that have

          5  more than 2,000 students. And just as we would like

          6  to do in the non-public schools, we work with the

          7  School Administration to try to come up with as an

          8  efficient distribution of resources in those schools

          9  as possible.

         10                 The issue of the nurses under the

         11  employment of the Department of Education came up.

         12  If we can figure out ways to work more efficiently,

         13  we can make those resources stretch farther in both

         14  public and non-public sectors.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER LANZA: So, the

         16  response is, is that there are public schools with

         17  fewer than 750 students that do have nurses?

         18                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Yes.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER LANZA: And how does

         20  that jive with the ratio that you've been talked

         21  about? Which quite frankly, obviously the ratio

         22  we're concerned with is the ratio of nurses to

         23  schools, not nurses to children, so how does that

         24  jive with those ratios?

         25                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: The same way it
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          2  jives to have one nurse for 2,000 students in a

          3  public school.

          4                 We try to make as rational and fair

          5  an allocation of scarce resources as possible.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER LANZA: Thank you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Can I, before I

          8  call on Council Member Recchia, I want to say we've

          9  been joined by Council Member Golden, from Brooklyn,

         10  who has actually been here for awhile who I failed

         11  to recognize.

         12                 Commissioner, just a few seconds ago

         13  you said that if you had $5 million more, you would

         14  be able to address the concerns that have been

         15  raised as it relates to having the amount of nurses

         16  there; so $5 million is the amount that would be

         17  needed to make it so the program was at the same

         18  level as it was in '03? That's the number you just

         19  said in response I think to Council Member Lanza's

         20  question when he was saying why not do this or the

         21  line of questioning. You said, well, I would if I

         22  could, if I had $5 million.

         23                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: I believe

         24  that's approximately correct. It depends in part on

         25  the number of schools requesting services, and what

                                                            97

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  proportion of them are contract versus on staff

          3  nursing, and it does beg the question if there were

          4  additional resources, would you put them in the

          5  schools with 2,000 kids and one nurse or elsewhere.

          6                 The other thing as we all know, we're

          7  in the midst of another budget reduction exercise

          8  and we're looking at another 30 plus million dollars

          9  in reduction to the Department's budget.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Understood.

         11                 I guess it was noted immediately when

         12  you said the number 5, because although as I said I

         13  appreciate your admission that you should have been

         14  clearer, I still actually believe that it was not

         15  the Department's budgetary position in May to do

         16  this, because at that point your budget Commissioner

         17  even reiterated the decrease in funding to

         18  non-public school nurses was $2 million, which was a

         19  result of a lesser demand than anticipated.

         20                 So, if we're talking about five for

         21  this part of it, that's added onto the other.

         22                 So, it seems to me clear that maybe

         23  you were thinking of this from a policy perspective,

         24  but this was not a budget initiative in May. Which I

         25  just say to underscore what other people have said,
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          2  I don't think this was something that the Council,

          3  and maybe we would have and maybe we wouldn't have,

          4  but was not something the Council did in the budget

          5  process, and I think those numbers bear that point

          6  out very clearly, and the timing of this hearing is

          7  perhaps most important, as we move into what you

          8  just said to make sure that things like this, you

          9  know, don't happen again.

         10                 Council member, you know, understood

         11  it might be five, it might be six. Council Member

         12  Recchia.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Yes,

         14  Commissioner, good afternoon.

         15                 I'm just looking over your testimony,

         16  I just have two quick questions.

         17                 When I see that it's $130 per student

         18  in private schools, compared with 65 in public

         19  schools, the only reason why it's much lower in

         20  public schools is because you have more students.

         21  That brings the price down, okay?

         22                 So, I mean to compare that way, it's

         23  not fair. I think what has to be done here is you

         24  need a new formula on how you're going to do this,

         25  and going by the number of students in a school is
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          2  not the way to go, because it's obvious that the

          3  majority of private schools do not have literally a

          4  thousand students in its building.

          5                 So I think you have to look at it,

          6  not as per student, but as buildings, and you have

          7  to come up with a new formula.

          8                 But my question to you is, have you

          9  consulted Chancellor Klein on this at all?

         10                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Chancellor

         11  Klein and I have spoken about this issue.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Okay, and

         13  what was the outcome?

         14                 I know that there's some money in

         15  fitness and health in the Board of Ed, in the

         16  Department of Education, that I think that could be

         17  used to help you, and that could help us resolve

         18  this problem here. And I think it is a question that

         19  this issue is not only the Department of Health

         20  question, but it's Department of Education issue

         21  also. And my question here is, when you spoke to

         22  Chancellor Klein, did you talk about this issue? Did

         23  you say to him could you help me out here? How could

         24  we work together to help these private schools?

         25                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: I cannot answer
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          2  for the Department of Education, nor would I answer

          3  for any other agency. What we are committed to doing

          4  is looking closely at the issue of the nurses under

          5  the employment of the Department of Education, and

          6  seeing whether there are any efficiencies which

          7  would result in a net increase in the availability

          8  of resources to both public and private school

          9  systems.

         10                 I'm not confident that there are

         11  efficiencies in that regard. But if there are, we

         12  are actively pursuing them.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Well, you

         14  know, I know there's a lot of money floating around,

         15  we have FEMA grants coming into the Department of

         16  Education, we have liberty money coming into the

         17  Department of Education. I find it very hard that

         18  there is not enough money to come in to help the

         19  private schools for these children that are entitled

         20  to have nurses and they're not getting it.

         21                 So, I'm going to tell you what I'm

         22  offering here, okay? And I'm going to request this

         23  from our leader, Christine Quinn.

         24                 I request that we set up a meeting

         25  between yourself, Department of Education,
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          2  Chancellor Klein, and the Chairwoman, and to all get

          3  together to see how we could resolve this. We're not

          4  here to attack you. We're here to get the services

          5  to the private schools which they're entitled to for

          6  the children. And I believe there is a way to

          7  resolve this. And I would be more than willing to

          8  spend my time in helping you and Chancellor Klein to

          9  resolve this, and coming up with ways.

         10                 We have to be creative here. We can't

         11  do it the way, just say, well, there's so many

         12  students to come down with money, that doesn't work

         13  anymore. We have to be creative. And I believe

         14  there's plenty of money out there that we can work

         15  and use it for the private schools.

         16                 Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: I just want to say

         18  before you answer that, I've never asked the

         19  Commissioner to have a meeting that he has said no

         20  to, so I can't imagine you wouldn't be willing. I

         21  would just add that we would probably also want to

         22  include Council Member Moskowitz, who is the Chair

         23  of the Education Committee, in that.

         24                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: We're happy to

         25  meet with any group to come up with the most
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          2  efficient, equitable allocation of scarce resources,

          3  or to identify potential sources of other resources.

          4                 As I have said now four times

          5  previously in this testimony, I would love to put a

          6  nurse in every school.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Council Member

          8  Felder.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: You all know

         11  Council Member Felder came to yesterday's Stated

         12  Meeting bearing very, very large pastries. Today,

         13  nothing.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Today the

         15  pastries are being baked as we speak. If you let me

         16  go home for Chavas, I'll bring something after the

         17  weekend is up.

         18                 I want to thank the Chair for this

         19  hearing, as well as my colleague, Council Member

         20  McMahon, for proposing this legislation.

         21                 I agree with everything that was said

         22  by my colleagues. I can't speak to the material that

         23  was mentioned when I was out of the room, but I

         24  think I agree with that as well.

         25                 So, I'm not going to repeat those
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          2  things, but there are just a number of issues that

          3  in my district itself there are a number of schools,

          4  for example, that have gone from five-day -- I'm

          5  talking about parochial schools that have gone from

          6  five-day nurses to one-day nurses.

          7                 There are some schools that went from

          8  five days to three days, and it has nothing to do

          9  with the size of the school at all.

         10                 So, I see the formula again repeated

         11  over and over, $2 for every student in private

         12  school, and then again later on about 65 times 2 is

         13  $130, I'm a CPA and I'm able to do that, 65 times 2

         14  is $130, and 350 and 700 students -- no, 755

         15  students, I don't understand -- I don't agree with

         16  what's going on, but even if I agreed with you

         17  entire, I say even, I underline that, but even if I

         18  agreed with you entirely, something is awry in the

         19  way things are happening in the private schools. And

         20  I would be the first to say that I want them all to

         21  have the nurses the way they had them.

         22                 But at a minimum, when Councilman

         23  Recchia mentioned about the way the formula is done,

         24  even the way you're doing it, something is wrong the

         25  way it's being done, because some schools are
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          2  getting nurses, some are not, some are getting them

          3  a lot, some of them are getting a little, and I

          4  think that that's entirely unfair.

          5                 And in addition, the days, for

          6  example, in one school that I mentioned, the day

          7  that the nurse is there, she's busy doing paperwork.

          8  I think that that's ridiculous, I mean if they're

          9  going to be there, they're going to be in the school

         10  for the day, which they should be more, let them

         11  take whatever they need and take care of it back

         12  wherever they want.

         13                 In terms of the schools and the

         14  numbers of the students in the school, again, even

         15  if I agreed with you, the schools, a lot of them are

         16  located very near each other, there's absolutely

         17  very little time that should be allocated for

         18  transportation from school to school. You take five

         19  schools, in some of the areas in my neighborhood, I

         20  have Holy Cross, Beth Jacob, I can list three more

         21  that are within a five-block radius. You add them

         22  together, you have way more than 1,000 students, and

         23  there's the same allocation that they should get

         24  that the public schools get.

         25                 I'm not done yet. Almost.
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          2                 So, I know that where there's a

          3  separation of church and state, and we've discussed

          4  even broader issues here, but I'm not getting into

          5  that. But I believe God is in charge of things but

          6  we have to help out a little bit, and, therefore, I

          7  think that it has to be done equitably, and I think

          8  that at this point in time, despite the compelling

          9  arguments that you made, that I don't agree with, I

         10  think that the schools, the parochial school

         11  children, and a variety of issues, not only on the

         12  health issues here, but health is something that's

         13  so fundamental that they're being short-changed that

         14  I think we need your help in making sure they get

         15  this health care.

         16                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: I'd like to

         17  address and clarify a few issues.

         18                 First, in terms of the number of days

         19  per week, the only schools that are allocated a

         20  nurse only one day a week are schools that have no

         21  medical rooms that they've provided for the nurse to

         22  work in. I think one could even ask why we're

         23  sending a nurse if there's no room for him or her to

         24  work in. There may be schools that are allocated a

         25  nurse two or three days a week.
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          2                 We have not been able to get the

          3  contract nurses to the level that we would want. We

          4  might has a happenstance only get a nurse for one

          5  day a week. But that's not the policy, except where

          6  there's no medical room.

          7                 For the other schools, what we've

          8  tried to do is balance the number of students

          9  requiring daily medication administration, the

         10  illness of the students, the nearness of travel and

         11  we had a meeting scheduled for earlier this week

         12  with the Committee of Non-Public Schools and we were

         13  looking forward to working together to try to figure

         14  out, maybe you know better than we do these three

         15  schools can be more sufficiently handled by one

         16  nurse. I don't know that, but we're quite open to

         17  working together within the existing resources to

         18  try to have a better allocation.

         19                 Remember that public health nursing

         20  in the schools, and school health program is broader

         21  than having a nurse in the school every day. It has

         22  to do with what's served in the cafeteria, with what

         23  kind of exercises is gotten in the gym class, with

         24  what kind of food is served, what kind of snacks,

         25  what kind of health education is provided, and we
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          2  are ready, willing, able and eager to work on all of

          3  those issues to the extent the resources allow.

          4                 If there are ways we can make the

          5  paperwork more efficient, we would be delighted to

          6  do that.

          7                 We are looking at our school health

          8  program in a way of now trying to make it more

          9  comprehensive and address some of the broader

         10  issues, and, again, we would welcome input in that

         11  process.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: My colleague

         13  here just mentioned, Domenic Recchia, mentioned that

         14  he has a school in his district that has a medical

         15  room, and that whatever you mentioned doesn't apply.

         16  Are you saying that any school that will have a

         17  medical room would have more than one-day service?

         18                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: They should. If

         19  they don't, we can certainly address that situation.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: We have a

         21  number of situations.

         22                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: To the extent

         23  that --

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: To the extent

         25  that your formula is applied.
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          2                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: They're planned

          3  to have more than one day a week. If they end up

          4  getting, because of a nursing shortage --

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Let me just

          6  ask one last question, please? If that's okay?

          7                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Yes, absolutely.

          8                 I just want to say, if your or

          9  Council Member Recchia could let the Counsel to the

         10  Committee know the name or number of that school,

         11  we'll then follow up with the folks at the

         12  Department of Health and the staff will follow up on

         13  that.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Thank you.

         15                 One last question. In terms of the

         16  services that are so expensive. If, for example,

         17  there were parochial schools, whether it's Holy

         18  Cross or Magen David or anything else, that are able

         19  to provide nursing staff for $65 per student, in

         20  other words without it going through, right now how

         21  does it work? You provide the nurses; is that true

         22  or not?

         23                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Yes.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Right. So,

         25  what if I told you in Brooklyn we can get it
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          2  cheaper? And I said to you, you know what? I know

          3  that you have a problem, and we want to solve the

          4  problem, so you will get the nurses for the schools,

          5  for the parochial schools, at the same rate that

          6  you're paying double in the public schools, just

          7  like you're paying double for a lot of other things.

          8                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: The law

          9  addresses providing the services by the Department.

         10  But we're certainly willing to think about, as

         11  Council Member Recchia said, creative ways to deal

         12  with a difficult situation.

         13                 I can't promise you that it's going

         14  to be doable.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: I don't want

         16  you to promise me anything. The last person that

         17  promised me something, bad news. I don't want you to

         18  promise me anything. I'm asking you. I'm just asking

         19  you a point blank question about privatization. In

         20  other words, would you agree that if I said to you

         21  that we sit down, just like Domenic is arranging

         22  meetings, I would ask the Chair here if we could

         23  arrange some kind of meeting for a proposal about

         24  privatizing it, and being able to provide it for $65

         25  and we'll save you all the money and everyone will

                                                            110

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  be happy.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: I'm happy to

          4  facilitate any meeting, so I tend to be opposed to

          5  privatization efforts. For the record I'll put that

          6  out there, but I would of course want to facilitate

          7  any meeting --

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: I appreciate

          9  it.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: But we should just

         11  know that, you should just know that before we go

         12  in.

         13                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: I would be

         14  happy to explore various possibilities.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: So, what

         16  Chairwoman Quinn, what Chairperson Quinn, so how do

         17  we take care of this, despite your opposition? Since

         18  the Commissioner is very willing to work with us?

         19                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: I'll have Judith,

         20  either Judith MacFarlane or Chris Winward from the

         21  Health Committee staff will follow up with you and

         22  your staff and we'll set onto scheduling with Fran

         23  Parris, or Louise Cohn or somebody else in the

         24  Department of Health. Fran has a direct line I think

         25  dedicated just to Health Committee staff people, so
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          2  we'll seek to do that as soon as possible, both that

          3  meeting and the one that Council Member Recchia has

          4  requested.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: But if we work

          6  it out, it doesn't mean that the Department cut the

          7  budget in half again, right?

          8                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: As I said,

          9  we're committed to providing equitable resources to

         10  public and non-public. We have no plan on the table

         11  to cut either public or non-public further.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Thank you very

         13  much.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Thank you.

         15                 We have questions from three more

         16  Council members and I know you have to be back at

         17  125 Worth very soon, so we'll be quick.

         18                 Council Member Sears.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Thank you,

         20  Madam Chair, and Commissioner.

         21                 I've heard a lot from my colleagues

         22  and from you and your staff, but I'm not going to

         23  really dwell on the same things again, and I could

         24  tell you that I agree with my colleagues. I think

         25  that your parity and your formula needs to be
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          2  reviewed. I think it's unfair. I think it's not fair

          3  to all children, and I think it's particularly

          4  unfair to compare New York City to the rest of the

          5  country, because there is no other City like New

          6  York City.

          7                 There is no other City that has the

          8  problems that New York City has, and there is no

          9  other City that has the children that we have with

         10  it's overwhelming diversity, and with all of the

         11  challenges and the health indices that that brings

         12  and you know only too well how that has escalated.

         13  So to have a formula that is certainly unequitable,

         14  at the time when in the City of New York that we see

         15  the rise in children of one health problem after

         16  another, and we remove those services that can well

         17  provide and aid those children, then obviously

         18  something is wrong, and that means that you need to

         19  review what you're doing and you need to look at as

         20  much help as you can get to make that work, which

         21  leads to my next question, because a lot of this is

         22  based on budget.

         23                 How much, and I don't mean

         24  specifically, do you spend to generate dollars? And

         25  what I mean by that is that some time ago it had
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          2  been proposed to close the school-based clinics,

          3  because they were not really providing enough

          4  dollars for their services. At the same time the

          5  programs that are available in New York State,

          6  HealthPlus, et cetera, in one school there were 800

          7  children that were not covered at all, that were

          8  most eligible for them or their families, that would

          9  certainly pay for some of the services that were

         10  being given.

         11                 In the schools, where you have

         12  nurses, and that would be where they have offices,

         13  do you have applications so that families can enroll

         14  in these services that would general dollars for the

         15  dollars that you claim you do not have that would be

         16  able to provide for those services? And if you do,

         17  cognizant of the shortage of manpower, what is your

         18  tracking system, as to just what do you generate in

         19  terms of enrollment. Because what we're looking at

         20  is enrollment to generate enough dollars so that we

         21  can provide for the services of nurses in these

         22  schools, for the money that you do not have, and

         23  what is the pursuit to see that eventually these

         24  families do?

         25                 And I would agree with Councilman
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          2  Oddo, I, too, serve on the negotiating team, and I

          3  can tell you, not only do we go line by line and

          4  we're there til 1:00 in the morning, and we have to

          5  make hard decisions, and we prioritize, and one

          6  thing we would never do is to sacrifice the health

          7  of children.

          8                 So, you have to communicate with us a

          9  lot better in terms of just what your needs are.

         10                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: In terms of

         11  Medicaid --

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Medicaid,

         13  HealthPlus, there's a lot out there.

         14                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Medicaid, Child

         15  Health Plus, Family Health Plus, EPIC for the

         16  elderly population, we have a division of Health

         17  Care Access and Improvement. The school health

         18  program works with that division to encourage the

         19  enrollment of children.

         20                 The school-based clinics, unless

         21  they're Article 28, are not eligible for

         22  reimbursement for their services, but we do try at

         23  all opportunities to maximize revenue and to use the

         24  maximization of revenue to avoid budget reductions

         25  or to provide additional services.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Well, I

          3  understand that. And that's not exactly what I'm

          4  really asking.

          5                 The fact is that there are many

          6  immigrants, newly-arrived immigrants, who are very

          7  much afraid of the governmental process, and they're

          8  afraid of the application process, and they really

          9  stay away from that.

         10                 If there was a social worker in these

         11  areas where you have your nurses or in school-based

         12  clinics, that would help them through a process and

         13  ease their fears, I really don't believe that money

         14  would not be generated from the pursuit of dollars.

         15  I really don't. I think that there is so much that

         16  is untapped at a time when we need those dollars,

         17  that sometimes you have to spend the dollars to

         18  generate them. And my question is, what are we doing

         19  to recognize the untapped areas and to generate the

         20  dollars that would begin to put nurses in the

         21  schools that you have taken them out of because of

         22  this formula where you would help to develop a more

         23  equitable formula.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: If I could just

         25  add for both the Commissioner and the Council
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          2  members information, both myself and Chairperson

          3  DeBlasio of the General Welfare Committee are in the

          4  process of working with HRA and the Health and

          5  Hospitals Corporation to try to expand the presence

          6  of HRA staff at HHC facilities to do the type of

          7  enrollment that the Council member is talking about,

          8  and we're working with Local 1549 on that issue, so

          9  perhaps we'll try to better include the Department

         10  of Health in that type of conceptual work, as well

         11  we can focus obviously on off-site to HRA -- HHC

         12  placements, but perhaps there's other possibilities

         13  there along the lines of which the Council member

         14  has raised which we haven't yet thought of. So, I

         15  will follow up with that.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Because in the

         17  areas that DOH is in, you're in a wonderful position

         18  to actually have those resources where the

         19  information is distributed to people, the same with

         20  you made the comment that if you had the dollars,

         21  you would not be able to find the nurses.

         22                 Are you linked with the HHC? Are you

         23  linked with those agencies, particularly the HHC,

         24  wherein they develop -- when we don't have the

         25  nurses here, we have a nurse registry in foreign
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          2  countries, and they are able to provide the nursing,

          3  the nursing that's needed in many of our hospitals.

          4                 Do you avail yourself of that, that

          5  assuming you had the dollars, that you would have a

          6  resource in which to have those nurses?

          7                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: In terms of

          8  nurse recruitment, there are a series of things that

          9  we do. HHC also has a serious nursing shortage.

         10  We've tried to work together. We've also tried to

         11  see, they have a visiting nurse service through HHC,

         12  we're seeing if they could provide us the nurses.

         13                 The issue of foreign nurses and

         14  immigration is one that waxes and wanes with

         15  national immigration policy. But I do agree with you

         16  that it's an area that we should look at again. If

         17  we do have a shortage in this country, we should

         18  both increase the number of nurses coming out of our

         19  training programs, because it's a good career for

         20  people and a valuable one, and also we should look

         21  at all possibilities to obtain nurses that are

         22  needed in our health care system.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: So, Madam

         24  Chair, then perhaps in looking at the other things,

         25  that you'll be able to also look at the linkage that
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          2  they have with the other nurse registries?

          3                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Yes, the Committee

          4  is going to be at some point in the near future

          5  holding a hearing on the nurses shortage issue and

          6  we'll be meeting with folks way before then.

          7                 So, just if we could quickly, Council

          8  Member Stewart? And I apologize for those who were

          9  lower on the question list.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Thank you,

         11  Madam Chair.

         12                 Commissioner, earlier in your

         13  testimony you said that basically you identified

         14  approximately $3 million of unspent funds. Is that

         15  from private schools or from the public schools?

         16                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: That was less

         17  than the budget, that was made for the private

         18  school expansion.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: So you're

         20  saying that the private schools requested these

         21  funds and did not spend it?

         22                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: No. In the

         23  estimate of the number of schools that would

         24  request, and I don't have that here, if it was X,

         25  what was actually requested would have been X minus
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          2  3 million.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: All right.

          4  So, it's not that the money wasn't there and they

          5  didn't spend it? It's not that they requested nurses

          6  and they didn't get the money?

          7                 My other question is, basically for

          8  the non-emergency cases, have you thought about

          9  having, in those schools that you may have maybe two

         10  or three days nurses, have you thought about having

         11  a mobile health stations for those days, instead of

         12  worrying about not having a health room based on the

         13  school grounds?

         14                 Have you ever thought about having a

         15  mobile unit to deal with the non-emergency cases?

         16                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: We would like

         17  to look at different options for providing services

         18  that are more efficient. Mobile free-standing units

         19  tend to be relatively expensive to operate, but if

         20  there is one student in a school getting medicine at

         21  2:00 in the afternoon, I don't know that it's

         22  necessarily the best use of resources to have a

         23  nurse in that school a whole day for that reason.

         24  So, we're looking at everything to see how can we

         25  make the resources that we have stretch as far as we
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          2  have, we can.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: And you

          4  alluded awhile ago to the nurses, shortage of

          5  nurses, and we had the same problem with teachers

          6  and the Board of Ed has seen it fit to recruit the

          7  teachers last year and even this year they felt the

          8  program was so successful they started doing the

          9  same thing again.

         10                 Have you thought about working out

         11  something with the President of HHC recruiting the

         12  nurses from overseas so that we can at least bridge

         13  this gap?

         14                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: I mentioned

         15  earlier that we are looking at all possibilities,

         16  and that would be one of them.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: And what

         18  about the system of dealing with insurance?

         19                 Quite a lot of these kids that might

         20  be in public and private school, they already have

         21  insurance that will pay for whatever insurance that

         22  is being provided; have you thought about accessing

         23  those insurance so that at least you could be

         24  repaid, you could be paid for the services you

         25  provided and you can bridge that gap of the funding?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Just to be

          3  clear, the vast majority of the school health

          4  services that we provide in public and non-public

          5  schools are not reimbursable. They're not eligible

          6  for reimbursement under Medicaid or other health

          7  plans. And, in fact, the majority of children, the

          8  vast majority, do have health insurance of one kind

          9  or another, Medicaid or Child Health Law is for

         10  private insurance, but we're not able to access that

         11  for the school health nursing services that we

         12  provide.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Why are you

         14  not being able to access that?

         15                 If it's being said now that every

         16  child is entitled to comprehensive benefits with the

         17  Child Health Care Plus and all these different

         18  programs, every child, regardless of income, why is

         19  it that you cannot access the insurance funds?

         20                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Many of the

         21  services that are provided aren't clinical services;

         22  furthermore, they're not provided within the context

         23  of an Article 28 facility, and so there is no

         24  reimbursement stream for those resources.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Are you
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          2  saying that we need to get some sort of a new law

          3  with the state to cover that type of health cost?

          4                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Yes, that would

          5  be fantastic.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Thank you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Very quick.

          8  Another minute. We're just going to give Council

          9  Member Golden, because then the Commissioner, who

         10  has stayed here a very long time, has to I know get

         11  back.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: Thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Go ahead.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: Thank you,

         15  Commissioner. I'll be real quick. Thank you for

         16  coming here today, but you can obviously see how

         17  important it is. The parents are still sitting in

         18  the crowds here, the schools are very anxious, and

         19  it's unfortunate when there's a rush to try to

         20  correct our budgets, reduce our budgets, and we have

         21  to look at the whole picture of what that budget

         22  does. You may be removing $5 million or several

         23  million dollars off of your inventory, but by

         24  reducing your inventory, at the end of the day if

         25  just 100 kids leave the 250,000 from the parochial
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          2  or private schools, and enters into the public

          3  school system, it adds a million dollars to the City

          4  and taxpayer. So, it grows exponentially.

          5                 And if it were to be ten percent,

          6  we're talking about $25 million, and if it's just a

          7  thousand, we're talking about $10 million.

          8                 So, it may come off your inventory,

          9  but it's going onto somebody else's inventory and

         10  it's still going to be a burden on City and state

         11  taxpayer. There has to be I think a better thought

         12  process going into this. That's number one.

         13                 The doctor came up with a good

         14  scenario, and that was a mobile unit. Mobile units

         15  can be expensive. Mobile units may not necessarily

         16  work, but we came up and we discussed a clustering

         17  of three schools, and I'll just take three schools,

         18  because the R line runs down Fourth Avenue, I'll

         19  take St. Patrick's, Our Lady of Angels and St.

         20  Ansellem's, and if we clustered one nurse and that

         21  one nurse covered those three schools, and the

         22  cluster decided how that nurse would be broken up,

         23  not necessarily us, and if the 15 kids at St.

         24  Ansellem's, so they would need the nurse there more

         25  frequently than say St. Patrick's or vice-versa,
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          2  they would need it more than the Lady of Angels, so

          3  the cluster breaks up how that nurse should be used

          4  and needed. Or they could even do it they rotate

          5  them, Mondays here, Tuesdays here, Wednesdays here,

          6  there's no mistake about it and that clustering

          7  nurse moves from school-to-school, I think would

          8  give the opportunity for a nurse to be in every

          9  location, and I think it would alleviate some of the

         10  fears, and it would give us the proper medical

         11  assurances that we need, I think. At least it would

         12  be a first good step at giving us the needed

         13  assurances of getting good medical services.

         14                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: I'm absolutely

         15  willing to work with schools to come up with the

         16  most efficient allocation of resources. And the

         17  example you gave, I don't know the details, but it

         18  sounds very reasonable to do it in that way, and we

         19  would look forward to working with representatives

         20  of the non-public schools to come up with the best

         21  way to do, make do with the situation we've got.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: We had

         23  discussed this earlier with the doctor and I guess

         24  there are other reasons they thought that it may not

         25  work, but I think it's the only thing that works at
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          2  this point, without having to put a nurse in every

          3  school. That may not be the answers that the parents

          4  and the schools out there want to hear, but I think

          5  it's a compromise where it comes out at least we

          6  know that some of our schools are being covered --

          7  not some of our schools, all of our schools are

          8  being covered, and that there is a nurse ten minutes

          9  away from that location.

         10                 Need be, though, a child that goes

         11  down in five minutes would have to be, obviously, if

         12  that reaction takes place and a nurse is not there,

         13  that is significant, but the school would know at

         14  that point to make the serious decision of calling

         15  emergency medical into that building and making sure

         16  that it's addressed.

         17                 But at least it's a step in the

         18  direction of trying to address the concern that I

         19  think many parents here in many of the schools have.

         20                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: We're move than

         21  happy to work together to address solutions like

         22  that that work as well as possible in the situation.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Okay, thank you.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Can I ask one

                                                            126

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  more quick one? One more quick one, Commissioner. I

          3  know you have to leave.

          4                 In your testimony and in answering

          5  questions you made very strong reliance on the

          6  "Handbook of Services to Pupils Attending

          7  Non-public Schools," I guess which is issued by the

          8  State, and the Council specifically relied on

          9  question number 19 and it's answer. But there are

         10  quite a few other questions and answers here, and

         11  I'm wondering how much we're selectively relying on

         12  them.

         13                 For instance, number five says, "Must

         14  all the health services provided to public school

         15  pupils by a city or county, Department of Health --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Council Member

         17  McMahon, he really has to --

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: I know. I'll

         19  be quick. The record has to have this in, because

         20  they made reference to part of the document and not

         21  all of the document.

         22                 "Buffalo or Rochester also be

         23  available to pupils in non-public schools?" And the

         24  answer is, "Services provided to public school

         25  pupils must be made available to non-public school

                                                            127

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  pupils on an equitable basis."

          3                 And then there are other questions

          4  that talk about defining what's equitable and time

          5  and space in considering the pupils' needs. Are all

          6  of these factors considered, or only the one

          7  question and answer that seems to support your

          8  position?

          9                 MR. LOPEZ: I think all of them were

         10  considered. As a matter of fact, when the handbook

         11  and the law talked about providing the services, I

         12  think we've been careful to make sure that the same

         13  services that are provided in public schools, are

         14  provided in the non-public schools when we are there

         15  pursuant to our proportional obligation.

         16                 So that when we are in the non-public

         17  school, we will administer medication. The same

         18  services are being provided. And that's the answer

         19  to that question. Number five.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: I'm finishing

         21  now, Madam Chairwoman.

         22                 But it says, "The nature of staff

         23  coverage may vary and should be based on factors

         24  related to pupil needs, pupil enrollment, and time

         25  needed to provide the requested services." So, how
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          2  can a school that doesn't have a nurse in the

          3  school, be providing services based on the

          4  equivalent nature, when time is a factor that should

          5  be considered?

          6                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: What you've

          7  said is exactly what our position is, that it should

          8  be provided based on the enrollment of the school

          9  and the needs of the students. That's what we are

         10  trying to do.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: But it also

         12  says "in the time needed to provide the service." To

         13  get the last word in. Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Thank you very

         15  much.

         16                 I just want to state as we call

         17  Congressmember Fossello up to testify. I want to

         18  thank him for staying for two and a half hours and

         19  listening to all the testimony.

         20                 I just want to also make clear that

         21  we were joined earlier for quite some period of time

         22  by the Public Advocate Betsy Gotbaum. She had to

         23  leave. One of our colleagues on the City Council,

         24  Diana Reyna, is getting married later today and she

         25  was heading off to the wedding. So, she has to give
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          2  her regrets.

          3                 And following after Council Member

          4  Fossello, we will hear from Steve Fiala, and then we

          5  will hear, if I can just confirm that they're still

          6  here, from Helen Murray. Is Ms. Murray still here?

          7  Okay. Glora Acevedo? Great. And Mary Ann Perry?

          8  Okay, great. You will be after Mr. Fiala.

          9                 Thank you.

         10                 CONGRESSMAN FOSSELLO: Thank you very

         11  much, Madam Chairwoman, and members of the City

         12  Council. At the outset, let me just commend you for

         13  having this hearing, and as well as the Council

         14  members, particularly those from Staten Island, who

         15  really the folks back home will be very proud of

         16  what you've done in leading this fight, because it's

         17  the right thing to do. That's why at the end of the

         18  day I think reason will prevail and there will be a

         19  nurse to accommodate these kids in public and

         20  non-public schools.

         21                 And to make a couple of observations.

         22  This issue, I know about parity and public health,

         23  and the reality is you touched on the right issue.

         24  If we're going to look at parity, I think the way

         25  the Department of Health is looking at it is the
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          2  wrong way.

          3                 I think you really need to look at it

          4  and address the Department of Health nurses in a

          5  particular school and Department of Education nurses

          6  in a particular school, and then and only then can

          7  you start the process of determining whether

          8  something is equitable or not, or whether there's

          9  parity or not.

         10                 I think it's illogical to suggest

         11  that if you have three nurses in a school, well one

         12  may be a Department of Ed and one Department of

         13  Health and characterize them as different, I really

         14  think it's illogical and a disservice, and until

         15  that's addressed we won't have it.

         16                 And I'll give you a point of fact

         17  that was just given to me recently as a great

         18  example. Recently the Department of Education

         19  recognized to create efficiencies to better allocate

         20  resources in the constructions of schools, they

         21  consolidated the Division of School Facilities and

         22  the School Construction Authority, because they

         23  recognized that there were two entities delivering

         24  practically the same level of service and they were

         25  calling them two different things. It was a good
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          2  idea then and it's a good idea now to ultimately

          3  consolidate these nursing services, and get back to

          4  a very simple approach.

          5                 Forget the bureaucratic way of

          6  looking at things, forget the numbers, numbers are

          7  important, don't get me wrong, but every school has

          8  a principal, every school has a teacher, and every

          9  school should have a nurse, and on a site-specific

         10  model. And I think the Department of Public Health

         11  should be leading that charge, not shying away from

         12  it. They should be attacking it.

         13                 And this notion of, well, we should

         14  revert back to the days when what we were doing was

         15  wrong is really shying away from a public health

         16  battle. I would be surprised if the good people in

         17  the Department of Health don't recognize this as a

         18  battle that they want to fight and win, this is a

         19  progressive way of going about it, and because they

         20  may not do it in other parts of the state or in

         21  other parts of the country, that is a very weak

         22  argument, and one that I think does an injustice to

         23  the kids and to the parents here.

         24                 And finally, and I think it was

         25  Councilman McMahon and Lanza and Oddo, and all of
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          2  you really, who touched upon the discretion of this

          3  action.

          4                 I was privileged to have served in

          5  this body for several years, and the reality is that

          6  you establish priorities all the time. There are

          7  some things that you can do and some things you

          8  can't do. I know there are people who love to go out

          9  to eat every night, some don't do it, because they

         10  can't afford it. They've established that as a

         11  priority, and the fact remains that this has to be a

         12  priority.

         13                 You start with this fundamental

         14  essential service for public and non-public school

         15  children, and then what's left over, you can start

         16  spending that other 1.3 or so billion dollars, but

         17  not until this aspect is addressed.

         18                 And I might repeat myself a little

         19  bit, but I was just going to the formal testimony,

         20  and reiterate again that just days before the start

         21  of the school, the Department of Health announced it

         22  would be significantly reducing the number of school

         23  nurses assigned to non-public schools. I had a

         24  conversation with the Commissioner the day before at

         25  10:00 to 5:00, and there was still no plan in place.
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          2                 As a matter of fact, when I dropped

          3  my kids off at school at 8:00 the next morning, the

          4  principal at the time was unaware of whether or not

          5  there would be a school nurse there.  In a school

          6  that has close to 30 children, approximately seven

          7  or eight percent, if I'm not mistaken, of the kids

          8  on a daily basis would require some sort of

          9  medication to be delivered by a nurse, whether it's

         10  diabetes or asthma or allergies, et cetera.

         11                 And we have ample evidence already of

         12  kids who were in schools, whether its sickle cell

         13  anemia, or Crohn's Disease, where there needs to be

         14  a nurse there to help that child, and if the nurse

         15  is not there, that child can end up in the hospital,

         16  which has already happened already this year.

         17                 Just two further points, because I

         18  know folks here have been waiting all day, and I'll

         19  submit the testimony for the record to save time.

         20  But we've already indicated to the Department of

         21  Education, they have received under the No Child

         22  Left Behind Act, federal, recently implemented by

         23  the federal government, we have learned that the

         24  2001/2002 school year New York City received

         25  $21,357,973 through the Innovative Assistance
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          2  Program, and $22,683,000 plus for the 2002/2003

          3  school year.

          4                 We forwarded this information to the

          5  Department of Health and Department of Education

          6  last month seeking comment, because they have the

          7  discretion and the ability to take some of that

          8  money and apply it to providing school nurses in

          9  public and non-public schools.

         10                 It is now almost a month later and we

         11  haven't heard a response from either agency on that

         12  point.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Congressmember,

         14  could I just interrupt and request if you could have

         15  the staff from your office forward that

         16  correspondence?

         17                 CONGRESSMAN FOSSELLO: You bet. I

         18  would be happy to.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: And we'll make

         20  sure you get the fax number.

         21                 CONGRESSMAN FOSSELLO: Be happy to.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Thank you.

         23                 CONGRESSMAN FOSSELLO: And the second

         24  point, again, is just to underscore that ultimately,

         25  Madam Chair, and the entire Council, I think we can
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          2  solve the problem in the short term, but ultimately

          3  I think we're doing a tremendous disservice to

          4  taxpayers, to children, unless we address that

          5  fundamental issue of consolidating nurses and call

          6  them what they will.

          7                 And I happen to think that they, and

          8  it's been indicated many times, they're in the front

          9  lines of defense. The notion that they could be

         10  screening these kids on a daily basis, monitoring

         11  their wellness and well-being, and not to have that

         12  integrated into a, ultimately again as was suggested

         13  before, almost to the CDC so we can have a much

         14  better control and inventory of the quality of the

         15  health of every one of the children in the school

         16  system, I really think the Department is not

         17  optimizing its public health initiatives the way

         18  they should be.

         19                 I understand they have a lot of

         20  priorities, but I'm here, yes, as a representative

         21  of 650,000 on Staten Island and Brooklyn, I hope I'm

         22  here as a representative of fairness and equity and

         23  the notion that this City stands for above all else

         24  and this country, for equality. I'm also here as a

         25  parent. I'm also here as someone who understands on
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          2  a daily basis what it's like, and the security of

          3  it, what it's like to know that there is a nurse to

          4  accommodate and to be prepared to address a

          5  situation for my son, for my children, and the

          6  others in that school.

          7                 I won't shy away from that

          8  responsibility or be an advocate for that cause,

          9  because I know it's not just me and there are

         10  others. And there's no reasonable mechanism, there's

         11  no such thing as a tuition tax credit, or

         12  opportunity, scholarship, or whatever you want to

         13  call it, to provide incentives for these folks to go

         14  out and hire a nurse on their own, therefore, until

         15  and unless that issue was addressed, I think the

         16  City has an obligation to treat every student fairly

         17  and honestly and equitably.

         18                 I thank you very, very much for this

         19  time.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Thank you.

         21  Congressman, I think we have one or two questions

         22  for you from the Committee.

         23                 CONGRESSMAN FOSSELLO: Sure.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: I again just want

         25  to thank you for demonstrating such commitment by
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          2  allocating so much of your busy schedule and staying

          3  with us today and making sure you could personally

          4  testify on the record. I really appreciate that

          5  support for the Committee's work.

          6                 Council Member Lanza.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER LANZA: Thank you,

          8  Madam Chair.

          9                 Congressman, I do not have any tricky

         10  questions for you this evening, I just simply wanted

         11  to welcome you back to these Chambers. I have the

         12  privilege, as many of you know, of sitting in the

         13  seat that Congressman Fossello once sat, and I also

         14  want to thank you for your leadership and advocacy

         15  with respect to this issue. I truly believe that you

         16  have led the charge here. Once this decision reared

         17  its head you were out there dealing with it, you

         18  refused to decide that this was a local issue. In

         19  fact, people should know that on the day before

         20  election day, a couple of days ago when most of your

         21  colleagues were out campaigning, you were meeting

         22  with Commissioner Frieden here at City Hall trying

         23  to persuade him and convince him of the wrongness of

         24  this decision. So we thank you for that advocacy, we

         25  know that you're going to continue to lead the
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          2  charge.

          3                 CONGRESSMAN FOSSELLO: Thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Thank you very

          5  much.

          6                 CONGRESSMAN FOSSELLO: Well, again,

          7  let me close thanking you, and my three gentlemen

          8  from Staten Island, Mr. Oddo, McMahon and Lanza and

          9  you, because I know in their hands this problem,

         10  it's going to be solved because it's the right thing

         11  to do.

         12                 Thank you very much.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Thank you.

         14                 The County Clerk of Staten Island,

         15  Steve Fiala.

         16                 MR. FIALA: Thank you, Madam Chair.

         17  I'll time myself because I know that there are a lot

         18  of parents here who have important things to say.

         19                 I'm here today, first of all, to

         20  thank you for your leadership in taking this issue

         21  up in such a timely manner. There are obviously a

         22  lot of pressing matters that are before you, and

         23  we're very grateful to you for scheduling this

         24  hearing.

         25                 And let me also echo Congressman

                                                            139

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  Fossello's words and thanking in particular Messrs

          3  Lanza, McMahon and Oddo for leading the charge.

          4                 I left this body a year and a half

          5  ago, and I've only come back one other time. I made

          6  a commitment to myself that I wouldn't be a nuisance

          7  to you all, and when I come back it's because I feel

          8  very strongly about the subject.

          9                 In November of 1999, Elizabeth

         10  Connolly, formerly Assemblywoman Connolly, contacted

         11  me and Jim Oddo at the time and Jay O'Donovan with

         12  this issue, and we took it up. We were trying to

         13  bring about -- this word "parity" has been thrown

         14  around a lot today, but it's taken on a different

         15  meaning. We were trying to bring about parity at

         16  that time, equality, equity, fairness, and we did

         17  it. We placed $17 million in the FY '01 budget, and

         18  I remember, I remember because late one night in a

         19  room right underneath this Chamber I say in there as

         20  we pulled the money out, because that's how it

         21  happens, budgets are a product of negotiation, money

         22  gets put in, gets pulled out. And I remember each

         23  one of us at different times, Oddo, O'Donovan and

         24  myself, I put that money right back in.

         25                 And here we are two years later and
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          2  we find that our good intention was not permanent.

          3                 So, I've listened for two and a half

          4  hours to the Commissioner, and I respect him and the

          5  dilemma that he faces, as well as his Associate

          6  Commissioners. It's tough to balance the budget in

          7  today's climate.

          8                 But I'm clear about this now, it

          9  seems to me that the fundamental question remains

         10  today as it did in 1999 and ultimately 2000 and we

         11  put the 17 million in, and that is do you subscribe

         12  to the notion that every child regardless of the

         13  school he or she attends is entitled to a full-time

         14  health professional.

         15                 If you do, the answer is simple. If

         16  you don't the answer is simple. It seems to me that

         17  the Commissioner, and I respect him for his

         18  straight-forwardness today, if nothing else, he

         19  indicated that in his view this was not the best use

         20  of scarce resources. So what do you do?

         21                 I'm not a lawyer. The three of you

         22  are. But I did look at the issue of the equal

         23  protection clause. I looked at the State

         24  Constitution's Bill of Rights with respect to equal

         25  protection, and I looked at the New York City
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          2  Charter, something I'm familiar with. And nowhere in

          3  there does it say specifically that a child in New

          4  York City is mandated to have a nurse.

          5                 So, it seems to me that the only

          6  logical approach now is to tighten up a loophole

          7  that I guess we left undone. The Charter, Chapter

          8  22, specifically says the Department of Health is

          9  created and has the following responsibility, unless

         10  instructed by law to be otherwise.

         11                 And go to Section J and it says that

         12  you can and you should promote health of school

         13  children. Well, maybe we need to now specify it, and

         14  Council Member Lanza, Oddo, McMahon, I applaud you

         15  for your legislation, to mandate it. Mandate it in

         16  law so that there is no ambiguity, so that there is

         17  no discretion, so that it is a line item which will

         18  jump out every year if it is tampered with. Your

         19  legislation says simply and appropriately that every

         20  school with 100 and more children deserves a

         21  full-time nurse on a full-time basis, regardless of

         22  the type of institution, public or parochial. I

         23  think what you do is you close the loopholes, you

         24  remove the discretion, you remove the ambiguity, you

         25  remove the wiggle room that exist, and you won't
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          2  need to come back, or future Councils won't need to

          3  come back, and try to keep alive the legacy that you

          4  provided.

          5                 Because as Chairwoman Quinn said,

          6  this was something the Vallone Council did, and we

          7  were very, very proud of it. It's something I am

          8  very proud of. It's one of five major

          9  accomplishments that I think I look back on and say

         10  we made a real difference. And it shouldn't be

         11  undone.

         12                 So, I'm here today to obviously, in

         13  response to the parents who have called me, by way

         14  of disclosure I have nephews that are in these

         15  schools, you're going to hear from a member of my

         16  family later talk about her two kids, but I'm here

         17  to support you and to urge you to pass your measure,

         18  because I think it will resolve once and for all

         19  this issue, and ensure that into perpetuity the

         20  statement is made that the City of New York to enact

         21  of this City Council in the Year 2002, determines

         22  that nursing on a full-time basis is an essential

         23  service, the same way police, fire protection,

         24  sanitation, correction and all the other essential

         25  services are. And if you do that, you've left a
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          2  legacy that you can all be proud of.

          3                 Thanks for allowing me to come and

          4  testify.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Thank you.

          6                 Council Member Lanza.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER LANZA: Commissioner

          8  Fiala, there is a reunion of sorts here from

          9  Councilmanic District 51. I thank you. I thank you

         10  for your work in the past on this issue. You,

         11  together with Chairwoman Quinn, and Councilman Oddo

         12  were responsible for making this a priority. We

         13  appreciate that and we appreciate your continued

         14  leadership on this issue.

         15                 Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Thank you. Next

         17  we're going to hear from Maryann Perri of the

         18  Federation of Catholic Teachers, I think it's Local

         19  145 --

         20                 MS. PERRI: 153.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: 153, sorry.

         22                 Helen Murray of the Federation of

         23  Catholic School Parents; and Gloria Acevedo, the

         24  President of Local 436 of District Council 37. And

         25  if you all three would come up to the table
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          2  together, kind of as a panel of sorts, and if you

          3  have any written testimony you could just give that

          4  to the Sergeant and she'll distribute it, okay?

          5  Great.

          6                 Ms. Acevedo, if you will just start,

          7  please, and then we'll just go across that way, if

          8  that's okay. Thank you.

          9                 MS. ACEVEDO: Thank you. Good

         10  afternoon, Chairperson Quinn, Committee members,

         11  attendees.

         12                 I am Gloria Acevedo, I'm the

         13  President of Local 436, United Federation of Nurses

         14  and Epidemiologists. My public health nurses are the

         15  nurses that are found in the public and parochial

         16  schools. Local 436 supports the need of a public

         17  health nurse in every school in the City under the

         18  leadership of the Deputy Commissioner of Nursing.

         19                 The current reality makes this goal

         20  impossible, unless positions are restored.

         21                 I know that the Commissioner had a

         22  bit of a hard time admitting how important we are,

         23  and he skirted around the issue, but public health

         24  nurses are responsible for:

         25                 - disease prevention, health
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          2  promotion and health maintenance, and this is done

          3  through monitoring, assessing, borne illnesses,

          4  treatment, reporting of human and animal bites,

          5  reporting and tracking of TB cases.

          6                 - also, we also conduct the Open

          7  Airways Program in which students and their parents

          8  are taught the elements of the asthma management, we

          9  conduct health classes on topics such as

         10  hand-washing, puberty, lice prevention, anti-smoking

         11  incentives and good eating habits, as well as

         12  community health fairs and health forums.

         13                 - health maintenance through case

         14  finding, referrals and follow-ups. In addition to

         15  public health functions, the Public Health Nurses

         16  assume the responsibility for compliance with the

         17  medical portion of the 504 services, such as the

         18  Diabetic and the Asthma child management.

         19                 - outreach. We make home visits to

         20  assess the family component to assess the student's

         21  health conditions. We establish liaisons with

         22  community agencies, health facilities and private

         23  providers. We facilitate enrollment of the Child

         24  Health Plus and now Family Health Plus as well.

         25                 - in time of emergencies, we are the
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          2  nurses who staff the shelters, the crisis hot lines,

          3  and also man the point of distribution centers for

          4  medication. We have swabbed noses and throats at TV

          5  stations and newspapers. We worked at Ground Zero.

          6  We were the ones that were fitting the respirators

          7  on the search and rescue teams.

          8                 In the event of a bio-terrorism

          9  attack, we, the school health nurses, public health

         10  nurses of New York City are the ones who have to

         11  leave their families to go and take care, vaccinate

         12  for Small Pox, distribute medications, whatever the

         13  need is, we need to handle that type of disaster.

         14                 Through the emphasis on school

         15  health, please remember that Public Health Nurses

         16  provide these services wherever we are located, TV

         17  clinics, maternity services, as well as Child Health

         18  clinics throughout the City.

         19                 In the 2001 school health program

         20  budget, non-public schools were included and new

         21  hiring was begun in order to reach school children

         22  in all communities.

         23                 Now in 2002, the budget cuts have

         24  eliminated 300 vacancies earmarked for uncovered

         25  public and parochial schools. There are
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          2  approximately 1,000 schools in New York City and

          3  less than 800 have nurses to service them. If you do

          4  the math that means that there are more than 200

          5  nurses with thousands of children that are being

          6  left behind, despite the federal mandate that"no

          7  child be left behind."

          8                 In order to meet the mandates set

          9  forth by the State and the City, the No Child Left

         10  Behind Initiative, it is essential that a public

         11  health nurse be placed in New York City schools to

         12  assure the delivery of these vital services.

         13                 Once again, I want to thank you for

         14  inviting me to speak on these important services.

         15                 I also wanted to add the fact that it

         16  is important what we do, and we do count, albeit

         17  whether we're in parochial schools or public

         18  schools, we are important, and when you do have any

         19  talks or anything like this, it's important to

         20  include the nurses that do the work. Let them be

         21  there so some of the ideas and things that were

         22  brought up here, they were great but you need to

         23  know the rest.

         24                 Yes, call 911, okay, but who

         25  stabilizes that child before 911? How many times
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          2  have parents had to get in the car, maybe take their

          3  cars because 911 has been stuck or there was

          4  somebody with a heart attack or whatever.

          5                 So that means that you need somebody

          6  not only that can be trained, but somebody who has a

          7  specialty in public health nursing and can cover all

          8  the areas.

          9                 Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Thank you. What

         11  we're going to do is hear from the three of you and

         12  then have questions for all. So, if we could just go

         13  right across because the mic moves around. I think

         14  you all might need to scootch over to the right and

         15  the left. Okay.

         16                 MS. MURRAY: First let me begin by

         17  commending all of you for having chosen your

         18  careers. It's not easy to sit up there and try to

         19  help everybody and do the right thing. God bless you

         20  all and now I will tell you who I am.

         21                 My name is Helen Murray, and I

         22  represent the Federation of Catholic School Parents.

         23  There are 29 Catholic schools on Staten Island, with

         24  an enrollment of 12,000 students.

         25                 Two years ago, Mayor Giuliani's
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          2  Office made the commitment of millions of dollars to

          3  the City budget to afford full-time daily nurses.

          4                 The Department of Health endorsed and

          5  instituted nursing services in each of the

          6  non-public schools, because they saw this as

          7  essential and a benefit to all children.

          8                 Just days before school began this

          9  year, the Staten Island Advance notified our

         10  district superintendent that the Department of

         11  Health had decided to eliminate the nursing services

         12  to the non-public schools in New York City.

         13                 This was done without the courtesy of

         14  consultation or notice to anyone at the archdiocese,

         15  and/or the principals of the schools involved.

         16                 While we do not dispute that certain

         17  fiscal limitations exist, these services are

         18  required by law and cannot be cut to meet budgetary

         19  targets.

         20                 Section 912 of the New York State

         21  Education Law clearly mandates that the New York

         22  City Health Department provide the same health and

         23  welfare services, including nursing services, to

         24  non-public school children as are provided to public

         25  school children.
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          2                 This law was passed to ensure that

          3  all children receive these basic yet essential

          4  health services without limitation.

          5                 Moreover, there is nothing in this

          6  law which requires that a school have a certain

          7  number of students or a child with a certain kind of

          8  disease, or disability, before it applies. The

          9  federal law applies to this issue as well.

         10                 Under the No Child Left Behind Act of

         11  2001, representative Carolyn McCarthy added an

         12  amendment that allowed school districts to use

         13  federal funds to hire and support school nurses.

         14                 In Mayor Bloomberg's "Blueprint for

         15  Public Health" speech, he promised to give the

         16  Department of Health funds to provide adequate

         17  staffing and funding to the school health program

         18  for every child in the public and private system.

         19                 Further, he noted that staffing must

         20  be determined by the number of children served and

         21  concentration of students with health problems, that

         22  is students requiring medication, number of students

         23  with asthma, diabetes and so forth.

         24                 A letter from Commissioner Frieden

         25  dated September 30th sent to school and elected
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          2  officials, stated that basically the Department of

          3  Health would not be able to provide nursing services

          4  to non-public schools after December 31st, 2002.

          5                 In his letter, and the letter from

          6  Deputy Commissioner Mary Bassett, dated October 4th,

          7  sent to parents who wrote to the Department of

          8  Health voicing their concern, the Department is

          9  trying to justify their decision by stating that per

         10  student, non-public school students receive twice

         11  the resources as public school students.

         12                 When dealing with issues of human

         13  health, especially the health of children, crunching

         14  numbers is not an appropriate way of determining

         15  need.

         16                 As a society, we are morally bound to

         17  care for our own. I am sure that the City budget

         18  disproportionately helps the indigent, the sick, the

         19  addicted and the disabled. We do not determine need

         20  by how much someone else is getting. We allocate

         21  resources by determining needs. Children are most

         22  worthy of our resources.

         23                 Secondly, the argument that

         24  non-public school students are using twice the

         25  resources as public school students is ridiculous.
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          2                 Non-public school children, by

          3  definition, use less resources than their public

          4  school counterparts. Although parents of children in

          5  Catholic schools pay a fair and equitable share of

          6  taxes by sending their children to non-public

          7  schools, they choose not to draw as heavily on these

          8  resources.

          9                 If we tried to enroll all non-public

         10  school students into their zoned public schools, New

         11  York City would experience an unparalleled budget

         12  crunch.

         13                 Our demands are simple: Treat our

         14  children with the same consideration as public

         15  school children. We want to know that when our

         16  children are in school their health, safety and

         17  welfare is in the hands of a trained nurse. Every

         18  child is deserving of adequate access to a school

         19  nurse, regardless of the size, status, location or

         20  affiliation of his or her school. They deserve that

         21  much, and anything else, or anything less is totally

         22  unacceptable.

         23                 Thank you.

         24                 MS. PERRI: I'm Mary Ann Perri. I'm

         25  the President of the Federation of Catholic
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          2  Teachers, representing 4,000 teachers in our union,

          3  and as a long-time classroom teacher, I think I'd

          4  like to say a little for the 10,000 non-public

          5  school teachers in the City.

          6                 We're trained professionals who

          7  educate more than 250,000 of this City's children,

          8  and the Staten Island contingent, notwithstanding,

          9  they are in every neighborhood and every corner of

         10  this City.

         11                 Dr. Frieden talked a bit about you

         12  don't need a trained nurse, any trained

         13  professional. What trained professional, us? We're

         14  not trained medical professionals, we're not

         15  equipped to deal with serious medical conditions,

         16  and of greater concern life-threatening emergencies.

         17  No plan that I've heard him articulate will enable

         18  us to fill the void left by missing nurses. I've

         19  experienced in my long teaching career, children

         20  trying to stay in school while they battle childhood

         21  cancer, hemophilia, heart and kidney disease,

         22  seizure disorders. They needed more than the

         23  sympathy of their teacher. They needed a nurse with

         24  medical expertise on-site, not miles away.

         25                 Children having a serious asthma
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          2  attack or diabetic complications or injured in a

          3  school yard accident, needed more than a comforting

          4  word from their teacher. They needed someone with

          5  enough expertise to deal with this emergency.

          6                 I've been unsure and I think some of

          7  you have, in an emergency whether to call 911. How

          8  can you dare to ask teachers to make that decision

          9  for someone else's children and bear the

         10  responsibility for the outcome.

         11                 Our children are being put at a risk

         12  which we as teachers find unacceptable, and you as a

         13  Council must not allow, and I see from what I've

         14  heard here this morning, that you didn't intend to

         15  allow it.

         16                 Nurses were assigned to our school

         17  two years ago because of the serious medical needs.

         18  There was suffering of our children that needed to

         19  be alleviated; there was danger to them that needed

         20  to be addressed. That's why Department of Health

         21  nurses are in our school, because the City finally

         22  realized the serious danger of not having them in

         23  school.

         24                 We are educating more children,

         25  younger children, we're talking pre-K 3, to meet
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          2  standards they're there for longer days. The need is

          3  even greater now than it was then. What's the

          4  justification for giving us less service?

          5                 Are you not keeping the promises that

          6  you gave to them? We have depended on these nursing

          7  services, our parents, our children, expect to be

          8  taken care of in their schools.

          9                 I am just appalled. I cannot believe

         10  that we are in two categories in the City. There are

         11  1,250,000 City of New York school children, not

         12  non-Catholic, non-parochial, private or public, and

         13  that's where the nursing dollars should be

         14  advocated, because that's the minimum requirement in

         15  my book, a nurse in every school. Every teacher and

         16  parent in this City and this State, which I think

         17  the law mandates, and this country that now says no

         18  child deserves to be left behind, all of us deserve

         19  the piece of mind of having a nurse in our

         20  children's school everyday.

         21                 Thank you for everything.

         22                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON McMAHON: We want

         23  to thank you three very much for your advocacy. And

         24  I think you stated much more eloquently and much

         25  more briefly what the rest of us have been trying to
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          2  say all day and drag out of the Health Commissioner.

          3                 Any questions? Okay, thank you very,

          4  very much.

          5                 Tim Kelly; Ellen Mitchell; and

          6  Lucille Kelly.

          7                 MR. KELLY: Good afternoon.

          8                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON McMAHON: Good

          9  afternoon.

         10                 MR. KELLY: First of all, I'd like to

         11  thank the members of the Council for allowing me

         12  this opportunity to speak.

         13                 My name is Tim Kelly. My wife,

         14  Colleen, and I, have two sons, Timmy and Sean.

         15  They're both students at St. Theresa's school. Like

         16  most kids nine and 13, they're into a lot of things

         17  - sports, video games, all sorts of things.

         18                 Unlike most other boys or girls their

         19  age, their lives are a little more under the

         20  scrutiny of their parents, teachers and their school

         21  nurse.

         22                 My sons are insulin-dependent

         23  diabetics. Sean was diagnosed at age nine, Tim was

         24  diagnosed four months ago at age 12.

         25                 Diabetes doesn't take a break during
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          2  the school hours. Sometimes during the school day

          3  their blood sugar, depending on situations, can be

          4  tested four to five times a day. Gym class, if there

          5  isn't going to be any outside activities, and

          6  sometimes even donuts brought in for a birthday can

          7  have a big effect.

          8                 Our school nurse is a vital part of

          9  the diabetes management team. She is there when

         10  parents can't be there. The medical training that

         11  she has can handle everything from scraped knees to

         12  hypoglycemic reactions.

         13                 Hypoglycemia is an extremely low

         14  blood sugar condition. It can result in coma, if

         15  left untreated, and eventually it could result in

         16  death.

         17                 My father was an insulin-dependent

         18  diabetic. As a young child I remember him going into

         19  severe hypoglycemic shock many times. My mother, a

         20  registered nurse, would try to force some sort of

         21  sugar into him. Sometimes she was successful,

         22  sometimes he was taken away by ambulance.

         23                 Several years ago my son Sean had a

         24  full-blown hypoglycemic reaction. My wife, a

         25  registered emergency room nurse, and myself, a
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          2  retired firefighter, through our hysteria were able

          3  to give him an injection of glucagon, we were able

          4  to revive him long before the ambulance arrived.

          5                 Had he not received this medical

          6  attention immediately, the results could have been

          7  devastating.

          8                 I commend the members of the City

          9  Council for introducing the bill which they have,

         10  and I ask the powers to be, please don't put tax

         11  money ahead of our children's safety.

         12                 As a parent, I am totally devastated

         13  at the decision that the Board of Health has made,

         14  as a taxpayer I'm outraged. I think our children are

         15  being discriminated against, and I think it's

         16  totally unfair.

         17                 I ask the members of the City Council

         18  to please look favorably on the role that Mr.

         19  McMahon and our other Council members have

         20  introduced.

         21                 Please safeguard the future of our

         22  children. My children and all the other children

         23  deserve to go to school in a safe environment.

         24                 Thank you.

         25                 MS. MITCHELL: Good afternoon. My name
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          2  is Ellen Mitchell. I'm President of the New York

          3  County's Registered Nurses Association.

          4                 Our Association is the voice for

          5  approximately 3,000 RNs in Manhattan, the Bronx and

          6  Staten Island.

          7                 I am here today to speak in support

          8  of the thousands of children affected by the

          9  decision of the DOH to withdraw professional nursing

         10  services from the non-public schools.

         11                 This egregious act has been designed

         12  as a cost-saving measure to help the City's

         13  beleaguered economy. I, however, fail to see the

         14  cost-saving benefit when the health of thousands of

         15  children, including those with chronic health

         16  issues, such as asthma, diabetes, epilepsy and more

         17  is placed at risk.

         18                 Consider this. Nearly 11 million

         19  children in the United States are uninsured. These

         20  children receive little or no health care for

         21  asthma, serious injury and acute illness. Violence,

         22  obesity and infectious diseases threaten the health

         23  of all children, and that's per the Centers for

         24  Disease Control.

         25                 The Registered Professional Nurse,
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          2  therefore, should be recognized as an economic

          3  investment in any school setting, not as an economic

          4  liability.

          5                 As my colleague from District 37

          6  stated, the RN in a school setting is uniquely

          7  qualified as an expert in case finding, early

          8  intervention, management of chronic and acute health

          9  problems, and in ensuring compliance with school

         10  health requirements.

         11                 The professional nurse is often the

         12  only provider of health services for children with

         13  limited access to other types of health care

         14  services.

         15                 In fact, the health of the entire

         16  community is part of the advocacy of the school

         17  nurse, demonstrated by the increased leadership of

         18  school nurses in disaster preparedness and response.

         19                 The Registered Nurse is educated to

         20  recognize signs and symptoms of communicable

         21  diseases, and is prepared to intervene in the effort

         22  to contain any outbreak.

         23                 It should be obvious, therefore, that

         24  the complex health needs of today's students demands

         25  Registered Professional Nurses.
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          2                 I am fully aware of the crisis in

          3  health care today, in which we face the worst

          4  shortage of nurses in years; however, school nursing

          5  has and always will be a preferred practice setting,

          6  especially for nurse parents with school-aged

          7  children. So perhaps recruitment efforts could be

          8  replaced there.

          9                 This decision on the part of

         10  Department of Health is shortsighted and must be

         11  reversed. The choice is clear: Invest now in

         12  children's physical and emotional health to create

         13  tomorrow's productive citizens, or pay ten-fold down

         14  the road. No budget should be balanced on the backs

         15  of our future. No child should be left behind. All

         16  children deserve a registered nurse, and I thank

         17  you.

         18                 MS. KELLY: Good afternoon. I'd like

         19  to thank the Council and Chair Council, I speak to

         20  you today only without a speech and from the heart

         21  as a parent of a child in a non-public school.

         22                 I have two asthmatic boys, as well as

         23  one of the boys has peanut allergies. Now, I hear a

         24  lot of reference today, and I do regret the fact

         25  that I didn't get to address Dr. Frieden, because I
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          2  believe that you are all on our side, and I'm not

          3  quite sure he sees our point.

          4                 But as far as my six-year-old boy

          5  with the peanut allergy, I've been told by a medical

          6  doctor, his pediatrician, that we have no time for

          7  911 in my son's case, his peanut allergy is so

          8  severe that his response to peanut is within a

          9  matter of touch, in the air, okay? And I have

         10  witnessed my son's throat close up and his mouth

         11  swell shut, and I had the epinephrine pen there,

         12  with 911 coming shortly after. But in this case, if

         13  there's no one there to administer that injection to

         14  my son, 911 does him no justice, okay? Because 911,

         15  that's five minutes, two minutes, that's still a

         16  child not breathing. And to me, the bottom line

         17  here, and the principle that I come before you on is

         18  that it's discrimination. I firmly believe that

         19  every child counts. Non-public, public, private,

         20  whatever you want to phrase it as, every child

         21  counts. And I just cannot believe that this was even

         22  allowed to happen, although I am educated here today

         23  by knowing that it wasn't properly -- let me phrase

         24  it as he did, it was not properly, he did not

         25  clarify how it should have been presented, but
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          2  because of that error, who is suffering? Our

          3  children, okay?

          4                 And I'm not going to go on and on

          5  because I don't want to be redundant, there's other

          6  parents that want to speak, but no budget cuts

          7  should affect the lives of our children, and we have

          8  to conquer this. I beg you to continue your

          9  fantastic proceedings with it. I just ask you that

         10  we cannot allow it to stop here. I believe in the

         11  bill, anything that we have to insist on this, and

         12  that's all I have to say.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Can I just ask you

         14  to state your name for the record, just because we

         15  tape this?

         16                 MS. KELLY: Okay. My name is Lucille

         17  Kelly, and I'm from St. Christopher's School, Staten

         18  Island, New York.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Thank you.

         20                 MS. KELLY: Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Council Member

         22  McMahon.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: How is it now

         24  in your children's school, Tim? Is there a nurse

         25  there still full-time, or is she roaming, or he
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          2  roaming?

          3                 MR. KELLY: Fortunately, as of now we

          4  still have a nurse in our school. We have my two --

          5  our two sons are diabetic, and there's another

          6  little girl also.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: And Ms.

          8  Kelly, in your school?

          9                 MS. KELLY: Can I respond to that?

         10  Yes.

         11                 In our school we have a nurse on

         12  Mondays, as well as a nurse on Wednesdays. However,

         13  being we're a parochial school, we only have half

         14  days on Wednesdays. So, we only have that nurse for

         15  three and a half hours.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: And do you

         17  know how many children are at St. Christopher's?

         18                 MS. KELLY: Yes, 342.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: St.

         20  Theresa's?

         21                 MR. KELLY: I believe it's a little

         22  bit less than 700.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Thank you.

         24                 MS. KELLY: Thank you for your time.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Denise Wine. Is
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          2  Denise still here? Come on up.

          3                 Maria Marchiano. Sister Patrice.

          4  Laverne Browne. Debra Morri, from the Academy of St.

          5  Dorothy. Okay, why don't you three come up. And then

          6  is Chris Proscia still here? Okay.

          7                 I'll call those who weren't here

          8  again, but unless they've returned, these will be

          9  our final witnesses.

         10                 Go right ahead, in whatever order

         11  you'd like.

         12                 MS. MARCHIANO: Good afternoon. My

         13  name is Maria Marchiano, and I'm an attorney, but

         14  I'm also a mother of two asthmatic boys who attend a

         15  non-public school on Staten Island.

         16                 All 40 public schools on Staten

         17  Island have two full-time nurses, regardless of

         18  enrollment.

         19                 One of these nurses is provided by

         20  the Department of Health and the second by the

         21  Department of Education.

         22                 In 2000, the Health Department

         23  assigned a nurse to every private and parochial

         24  school in Staten Island, and these schools spent

         25  funds to create suitable facilities to accommodate
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          2  the nurses. Shortly before the start of a 2002/2003

          3  school year, the Department of Health Commissioner

          4  made budgetary cuts, and as of September 19th of

          5  2002, because of these cuts, of the 34 non-public

          6  schools on Staten Island, 14 schools have a nurse

          7  assigned five days a week, the remaining 20 share

          8  nine nurses.

          9                 Section 912 of the New York State

         10  Education Law mandates that non-public school

         11  students receive any and all of the health and

         12  welfare services and facilities, including nursing

         13  services that are made available to public school

         14  children and in New York City, these services are

         15  provided by the New York City Department of Health.

         16                 In response to protests led by

         17  parents, principals and elected officials, the

         18  Health Department had issued form responses in which

         19  it contends that since 2000 nurses to non-public

         20  schools have been supplied without consideration of

         21  "proportion of students," and "regardless of size

         22  of the school."

         23                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: I just want to

         24  interrupt. Michael Polenberg, who is our staff

         25  person assigned to this Committee from the Finance
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          2  Division, is actually leaving to go see a nurse for

          3  a personal health situation, which is minor, but

          4  before he left I just wanted to publicly thank him,

          5  because he did a great deal of the research, et

          6  cetera, on this. It's an ingrown toenail situation,

          7  nothing serious. Don't worry. Hope it goes well.

          8                 MS. MARCHIANO: Although, no

          9  supporting data is supplied, the Health Department

         10  argued that this generosity has given the non-public

         11  schools, "twice the resources per student as public

         12  schools."

         13                 Any attempt by the Health Department

         14  to tie nursing services to school enrollment is

         15  easily refuted because it does not apply the

         16  standards to its own schools.

         17                 Dr. Frieden didn't have the exact

         18  numbers, but I do, at least as it concerns Staten

         19  Island.

         20                 In 1995, all public schools on Staten

         21  Island were assigned a full-time nurse provided by

         22  the Health Department, regardless of the number of

         23  students. This policy is evident today on Staten

         24  Island. For example, PS 11, with 300 students, PS 41

         25  with 500 students, and PS 69 with 1,300 students,
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          2  all have one full-time Health Department nurse.

          3                 If enrollment is not the standard for

          4  public schools, then enrollment cannot be the

          5  standard for non-public schools.

          6                 Neither is interpretation supported

          7  by the plain language of the statute. In fact, this

          8  interpretation clearly frustrates its purpose, which

          9  is to ensure equal access to free health and welfare

         10  services, regardless of where a child is educated,

         11  especially in light of the fact that St. Charles

         12  School has almost 800 students, and our Lady Star of

         13  the Sea School has almost 900 students, which is

         14  well above the 300 students attending PS 11 and 500

         15  attending PS 41.

         16                 Section 912 was passed to ensure that

         17  all children receive these basic, yet essential,

         18  health services.

         19                 Applying the statute here, it would

         20  appear that every Staten Island public school had

         21  one full-time nurse from the Department of Health,

         22  and every non-public school should have one

         23  full-time nurse.

         24                 Thank you.

         25                 MS. WINE: Hello. My name is Denise
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          2  Wine. I am a registered nurse. I have five daughters

          3  in the non-public school system. I don't have a

          4  speech prepared, and I'm sure you're all very tired

          5  as I am and starving, what I have to say is

          6  basically that it's not just unfair that the

          7  non-public schools don't get nurses, it's really not

          8  safe. He's not taking into consideration, when I say

          9  "he," Commissioner Frieden, a diabetic child, they

         10  don't know, they're too young to know whether or not

         11  they're going into diabetic coma. They're not going

         12  to sit back and say, you know what? I'm feeling a

         13  little dizzy, how about I get an orange, you know, a

         14  bottle of orange juice, or I'll carry one in my

         15  backpack. We need nurses in the schools. I am

         16  insulted to think one of the Assistant Commissioners

         17  has said to all of us that anybody could basically

         18  do the job of a registered nurse. I went to school

         19  for it, I took two days of licensed exams for it,

         20  it's insulting. I don't think that at all. I mean

         21  for that matter, let's see, maybe we can train six

         22  months for anesthesia, train two and a half years to

         23  be an obstetrician, it's ridiculous.

         24                 Really, we basically need it, and

         25  it's not fair, it's not safe, and it's just not
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          2  right. You know, the kids are suffering because we

          3  put them into non-public schools. This is not a

          4  church state issue, as I know everybody has said,

          5  everything has pretty much been spoken, so I hate to

          6  be redundant and just keep going over the same

          7  thing, but this has nothing to do, this in no way

          8  promotes or encourages anything to do with religion.

          9  This promotes and encourages safety. We leave our

         10  children in school for six hours a day, I think,

         11  something like that, and if something were to happen

         12  at any given time, a child can have a strawberry and

         13  their throat can close up. And I would never know

         14  that, my child has never had a strawberry allergy,

         15  but tomorrow she could. She may eat a piece of

         16  shrimp. One girl in our school by accident thought

         17  something was a popcorn chicken, the nurse was

         18  telling me, and it was a piece of shrimp and she was

         19  allergic to it. And thank God that nothing happened

         20  to her, but what if something did?

         21                 I don't think that a ward clerk, a

         22  secretary or a teacher, and nothing against anybody,

         23  I don't think that they can handle this.

         24                 You know what? Wood Hull Hospital

         25  can't do it, a licensed practical nurse, they do go
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          2  through training and they do take licensure exams,

          3  but they can't do it. They can't administer

          4  medication. It's not right to say that somebody else

          5  with nine hours worth of training could be the same

          6  as a registered nurse. And I think the cuts that

          7  he's doing is just not right. It's just not safe,

          8  and everything else has basically been said.

          9                 So, thank you.

         10                 MS. MORRI: Good afternoon. My name is

         11  Debra Morri, and I would have really liked to speak

         12  to Dr. Frieden. Although I question if he is a

         13  doctor because of his cuts that he did do.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: I just want to

         15  make sure, just for you and everyone for the record,

         16  I should have announced this earlier, obviously the

         17  Commissioner left, he had another meeting, but there

         18  has been a representative of the Department of

         19  Health here throughout the entire hearing, Barbara

         20  Shields, who actually participated in all our budget

         21  hearings last year.

         22                 So, I can't rest assured the

         23  Department of Health will change their position, but

         24  I can rest assured she will convey everyone she said

         25  back very strongly, because I've seen her do that as
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          2  a result of our public hearing for the budget last

          3  year.

          4                 MS. MORRI: My son is five-years-old

          5  and he attends the Academy of St. Dorothy on Staten

          6  Island. He has a severe life-threatening peanut

          7  allergy. He needs every single day at home and at

          8  school, if he eats the wrong food, anything that

          9  contains a peanut, he could potentially die.

         10                 He doesn't know any better, he's

         11  five, so he looks to parents or at school, the

         12  teachers, to make sure that he's eating the proper

         13  food. He should be looking towards a nurse. Teachers

         14  are there to teach. Principals run the school, and

         15  secretaries answer the phone and do paperwork. None

         16  of the above were trained to administer medication,

         17  like epinephrine, if he did not go to school, it is

         18  important that we keep the children safety in mind

         19  and that we really do need a nurse in the school for

         20  allergies, for asthma, and for daily occurrences.

         21                 Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Any questions?

         23                 Thank you all very much.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: St.

         25  Dorothy's, there's a full-time nurse there?

                                                            173

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2                 MS. MORRI: St. Dorothy's only has two

          3  days one week, and perhaps two or three days the

          4  next week. It varies.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: And there's

          6  how many children in the school?

          7                 MS. MORRI: Three-hundred and

          8  twenty-four about.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: And St.

         10  John's?

         11                 MS. MARCHIANO: St. John's has a nurse

         12  only two days a week. They have over 500 students.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Over 500

         14  students.

         15                 MS. MARCHIANO: I believe 500, yes.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Thank you.

         18                 I just want to call these names again

         19  to see if these folks just were perhaps making a

         20  phone call or something and stepped out. I assume

         21  they're not here. Laverne Browne? Sister Patrice,

         22  and Chris Proscia?

         23                 Okay, I want to thank everybody for

         24  coming, particularly those of you who were able to

         25  stay til the end.
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          2                 Obviously folks who signed in, we

          3  have your addresses.

          4                 For those folks who we don't have

          5  your name and addresses but would like to be kept up

          6  to date on the issue, what would probably be best,

          7  if you'd like to be kept up to date on the issue

          8  where you know people would like to be kept up to

          9  date on the progress of the issue, if you would send

         10  your address, or your e-mail address, or both to

         11  Council Member Christine Quinn, City Hall, New York,

         12  New York, 10007, just noting you'd like to be put on

         13  a mailing list regarding the non-public school

         14  nurses, then we will create a mailing list and send

         15  it out to you.

         16                 If you want to jot that down now, you

         17  can hand it to Judith MacFarlane on a scrap of

         18  paper, the Counsel to our Committee.

         19                 That said, the hearing is adjourned,

         20  and we will keep you up to date.

         21                 Thank you all for coming.

         22                 (Hearing concluded at 4:30 p.m.)
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